THE EXPERIENCES OF COMPASSION FATIGUE AND RESILIENCE AMONG NURSES IN PRIVATE MEDICAL FACILITIES

Simoné le Roux

DISSERTATION (IN ARTICLE FORMAT) SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

MAGISTER ARTIUM (CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY)

in the

FACULTY OF THE HUMANITIES
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY

at the

UNIVERSITY OF THE FREE STATE

Supervisor: Dr A. Botha

Co-supervisor: Mrs I. Kruger

DECLARATION

Simoné le Roux D	Pate
of the Free State.	
qualification. I further cede copyright of the	dissertation in favour of the University
to another university/faculty for assessment o	or completion of any other postgraduate
Free State is my own independent work and the	hat it has not previously been submitted
submitted for the Magister Artium Clinical Ps	ychology degree at the University of the
of compassion fatigue and resilience amon	g nurses in private medical facilities
I, Simoné le Roux (2011040512), hereby decla	are that the dissertation <i>The Experiences</i>

PROOF OF LANGUAGE EDITING

20 July 2018

I, Wendy Stone (ID 7806270156089), hereby declare that I am a qualified language

practitioner and that I have proofread and edited the Master's dissertation The

Experiences of compassion fatigue and resilience among nurses in private medical

facilities by Simoné le Roux.

Please contact me should there be any queries.

Dr Wendy Stone

PhD; HED

DEDICATION

This research study is dedicated to all the nurses in South Africa who persistently strive to put their patients' needs above their own.

"Moreover let us exult and triumph in our troubles and rejoice in our sufferings, knowing that pressure and affliction and hardship produce patient and unswerving endurance. And endurance develops maturity of character. And character produces joyful and confident hope." Romans 5:3-4.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude towards the following people:

- Firstly, to my Lord Jesus Christ, with You by my side, I know that I can do all things (Philippians 4:13). You have provided me with strength and perserverence at times when I needed them most.
- To my husband, thank you for encouraging and supporting me throughout my studies over the past two years. You have been my pillar of support in everything that I do and I look forward to accomplishing many more milestones with you by my side.
- To my family: firstly, a big thank you to my father and mother. You have been there and have supported me from the start. You are always there to encourage and teach me more about life. Thank you for all the sacrifices you have made to help me pursue my dream of becoming a psychologist. I cannot thank you enough. To my loving sisters, thank you for always putting a smile on my face and lending a shoulder when things become tough.
- To my supervisor, Dr Botha, thank you for all the time, support and guidance that have gone into this study. You have been so patient with me, especially in the times that I needed it the most.
- To my co-supervisor, Mrs Kruger, thank you for being a part of this study and providing guidance and advice where possible. I truly appreciate it.
- To every participant who formed part of this study, words cannot describe
 how grateful I am that you were willing to share an intimate part of your life
 stories with me. You have all inspired me to perservere through difficulties
 and always strive to be more compassionate and caring, especially towards
 those who need it the most.

ABSTRACT

Individuals choose nursing as their occupation due to their desire to care for others who are in pain or are experiencing suffering. Although they experience a high level of satisfaction from their occupation, not all nurses are equipped to deal with the effects of being exposed to secondary trauma. Those working in trauma units are exposed to trauma on a daily basis and are therefore at risk of developing compassion fatigue (CF). The consequences of CF are noticeable in the personal and interpersonal lives of individuals, as well as in their occupation. Resilience, however, can mitigate the negative effects of CF. Therefore, it is important for nurses to enhance their level of resiliency.

The aim of this study was to explore and describe South African nursing professionals' experiences of compassion fatigue and resilience. A qualitative multiple case study approach was used to elicit rich descriptions from research participants in connection with their experiences of CF and resilience. Six participants were chosen for the study. These participants were recruited by means of purposeful sampling. Semi-structured interviews were used to collect the data for this study. Transcriptions of the interviews were done verbatim and thematic analysis was conducted in order to analyse the data.

Four main themes emanated from the data analysis: firstly, the different types of fatigue and their impact on nurses emerged as a theme. The second theme consists of the coping strategies that aid nurses in overcoming CF and developing resilience. Thirdly, the intrapersonal characteristics needed to cope emerged as an important part of nursing. Finally, the ways in which nurses care for and support their patients emerged as a theme within this study. The findings reveal that trauma nurses experience various types of fatigue due to the amount of compassion they display. Therefore, making use of coping strategies that aid them in developing resilience, reduces the negative effects of CF.

The insights gained throughout this study may contribute towards developing a greater understanding of resilience and how it can be used to mitigate the negative effects of CF.

Keywords: compassion, compassion fatigue, resilience, nursing, trauma, coping strategies

ABSTRAK

Mense kies verpleging as beroep omdat hulle ander wat pyn ly of leed verduur, wil versorg. Hoewel hulle in 'n hoë mate bevrediging uit hul beroep put, is nie alle verpleegsters daartoe toegerus om die gevolge van hul blootstelling aan sekondêre trauma te kan hanteer nie. Verpleegsters wat in trauma-eenhede werk ervaar daagliks trauma. Daarom loop hulle gevaar dat hul medelydsaamheid afgestomp kan raak. Die gevolge daarvan is duidelik te sien nie slegs in die persoonlike en interpersoonlike lewens van verpleegsters nie, maar ook in hul beroepsbedrywighede. Veerkragtigheid kan die negatiewe gevolge van emosionele tamheid verminder. Dus is dit belangrik dat verpleegsters die vlakke van hul veerkragtigheid moet verhoog.

Die doel van die onderstaande studie is om die ervaringe van Suid-Afrikaanse beroepsverpleegsters ten opsigte van emosionele tamheid en veerkragtigheid te ondersoek en te beskryf. 'n Kwalitatiewe veelvuldige gevallestudie is gebruik om van die deelnemers in die navorsing diepgaande beskrywings te bekom ten opsigte van hul ervaring van emosionele tamheid en veerkragtigheid. Ses deelnemers is vir die studieprojek geselekteer. Hierdie deelnemers is deur die gebruik van doelgerigte steekproeftrekking gewerf. Semi-gestruktureerde onderhoude is gebruik om die data vir hierdie studie in te samel. Die onderhoude is woordeliks opgeteken waarna die data volgens tematiese analise ontleed is.

Vier hooftemas het uit die data-ontleding geblyk. Eerstens het vier soorte emosionele tamheid en die uitwerking daarvan op verpleegsters aan die lig gekom. Die tweede tema bestaan uit die coping-strategieë wat verpleegsters help om emosionele tamheid te oorkom en om hul veerkragtigheid te ontwikkel. Derdens was dit die onmisbare interpersoonlike hoedanighede wat 'n integrerende deel van verpleging uitmaak. Die laaste tema wat uit die studie geblyk het, was die wyses waarop verpleegsters hul pasiënte versorg en ondersteun. Die bevindinge toon dat trauma-verpleegsters verskeie soorte tamheid ervaar, as gevolg van die medelye wat hulle met pasiënte ervaar. Dus word die negatiewe uitwerking van emosionele tamheid verminder namate verpleegsters coping-strategieë aanwend wat hulle help om hul veerkragtigheid te ontwikkel.

Die insigte wat deur hierdie studieprojek bekom is, kan 'n bydrae lewer tot die

ontwikkeling van 'n dieper begrip van veerkragtigheid en hoe dit aangewend kan word om die negatiewe uitwerking van emosionele tamheid te verminder.

Sleutelwoorde: medelydsaamheid, emosionele tamheid, veerkragtigheid, trauma, coping-strategieë

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The Profession of Nursing	11
Compassion Fatigue	13
Compassionate Care	14
Stressors	16
CF in Health Care	17
Resilience	21
Resilience in the South African Context	23
Coping Strategies Contributing to Resilience in Healthcare	24
Methodology	27
Research Question	27
Research Design and Methodology	27
Participants and Sampling Procedures	29
Data Collection Method	32
Data Analysis	33
Rigour and Trustworthiness	34
Ethical Considerations	34
Results and Discussion	35
Theme 1: Fatigue and the Factors Contributing to It	35
The impact of fatigue	35
Emotional fatigue	37
Distressing emotions.	38
CF	39
Secondary trauma	40
Death.	41
Theme 2: Nurses Use Coping Strategies to Deal with CF and be more Resilient	43

Religion.	43
A social support system.	45
Collegial relationships.	47
Reflection	49
Theme 3: Intrapersonal Characteristics	50
Positive attitude	50
Resilience	51
Self-compassion.	52
Professional experience	53
Theme 4: Caring for and Supporting Patients	54
Compassion.	54
Distancing personal emotions from occupation	55
Conclusion	57
References	59

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: Interview Protocol	
APPENDIX B: Excerpt from an individual interview transcription	96
APPENDIX C: Example from the reseacher's reflective journal	124
APPENDIX D: Letter of ethical clearance	125
APPENDIX E: Turnitin Report	126

Individuals who have been exposed to severe trauma are often negatively affected in terms of their mental health and physical wellbeing (Burnett & Wahl, 2015). Moreover, the helping professionals assisting these individuals are also adversely affected (Burnett & Wahl, 2015). Helping professionals such as nurses are constantly exposed to traumatic experiences that can have a significant impact on their coping skills and ability to consistently provide quality care to patients (Burnett & Wahl, 2015).

In South Africa, nurses are the driving force behind the healthcare system as they currently outnumber doctors five to one (Bhaga, 2010; Campbell, Lawrence, Spiehler, & Williams, 2009; Engelbrecht, Bester, Van den Berg, & Van Rensburg, 2008; Naik, 2016). Nursing relies on treating patients from a holistic point of view, considering patients as multifaceted human beings and taking their environment into consideration (Richmond & Aitken, 2011). A nurse is there to comfort the patient and to provide those who are in pain or suffering from life-threatening diseases and incapacity with a sense of support (Farrington, 1995; Richmond & Aitken, 2011).

The high level of occupational stress experienced by nursing staff frequently results in countless health-related issues that directly influence their job performance (Bhaga, 2010; Campbell et al., 2009). Among a group of Pakistani and South African nurses, it was discovered that high levels of stress led to lower levels of job satisfaction (Makola, Mashegoane, & Debusho, 2015; Pillay, 2009; Zulfiqar, Khan, & Afaq, 2013). In addition, a stressful work environment may adversely affect nurses' overall health and wellbeing (Burke & Greenglass, 2007; O'Donovan, Doody, & Lyons, 2013). Therefore, although nursing can be seen as a rewarding profession, it can be highly stressful as a result of the emotionally challenging situations experienced on a daily basis (Kath, Stichler, Ehrhart, & Schultze, 2013; Moustaka & Constantinidis, 2010). This may increase the risk of developing compassion fatigue (CF) (Figley, 1995; Jackson, Firtko, & Edenborough, 2007; Ledoux, 2015; Lombardo & Eyre, 2011).

The Profession of Nursing

In the constantly changing world of healthcare, nurses worldwide are exposed to repeated physical and emotional stress (Gandi, Wai, Karick, & Dagona, 2011; Mealer, Shelton, Berg, Rothbaum, & Moss, 2007). The current literature on occupational

stress among nurses has focused predominantly on the public health sector. Therefore, little is known about the experiences of nurses who work in the private health-care sector, especially in the South African context. It has, however, been established that nurses working in both the private and public sectors face various external stressors (Bhaga, 2010; Showalter, 2010; Tyson & Pongruengphant, 2004; Yoder, 2010). These stressors include extensive working hours, a constant increase in workload and a need to respond to the needs of patients on an hourly basis (Bhaga, 2010; Campbell et al., 2009; Naik, 2016; Pillay, 2009; Showalter, 2010; Tyson & Pongruengphant, 2004; Yoder, 2010). Furthermore, a high level of interpersonal conflict has been observed in the workplace, which leaves nurses feeling inadequate, self-conscious, irritated and depressed (Arquharson et al., 2013; Hillhouse & Adler, 1997; Jennings, 2008). This may also lead to a lowered self-esteem and overall lower quality of patient care (Arquharson et al., 2013; Hillhouse & Adler, 1997; Jennings, 2008). Nursing professionals in South Africa are required to deal with an array of difficulties, including exposure to bacteria, viruses and needle prick accidents, increasing numbers of HIV/AIDS patients, and being surrounded by staff who are constantly overworked (Hartley, 2005; Hayes et al., 2012; Mosendane, Kew, Osih, & Mahomed, 2012).

Furthermore, statistics reveal that approximately 50% of health-care workers in South Africa consist of nurses (South African Nursing Council, 2013). In 2013, the statistics stood at 129 015 registered nurses in total, who were serving a population of 52 982 000 patients. In other words, there was one registered nurse for every 411 patients, placing nursing staff at the forefront of our healthcare system (SANC, 2013). While the number of registered nurses had increased in 2016, which stood at a total of 270 437, there was still a shortage of 44 780 professional nurses (SANC, 2016). The annual enrollment of nursing students is decreasing and a predicted shortage of professional nurses in our country (SANC, 2016) may lead to a further increase in the amount of stress and workload for the remaining nurses. A high workload and shortage of staff are two factors that may contribute to a state of CF (Austin, Goble, Leier, & Pyrne, 2009; Melvin, 2012).

Nursing in South Africa takes the form of various specialties, including mental health nursing, midwifery, child health, aged care, oncology, intensive care, operating theatre, community health, remote area nursing, research, management, education,

and workplace health and safety (Wildschut & Mgqolozana, 2008). Another area in nursing is trauma care, which is often also referred to as an emergency unit. However, to avoid confusion, this area of specialisation will be referred to as a trauma unit. In this study, the focus is on nurses who are registered with the Health Professions Council of South Africa and who are currently working in or have previous experience in trauma care.

Trauma nurses are normally the first line of professionals who are exposed to traumatic events as they are the 'first responders' to tragedies before other professionals such as doctors intervene (Ebright, 2010). As a result, nurses witness and experience trauma on a daily basis (Showalter, 2010; Yoder, 2010). They must be available to respond to the needs of patients in a variety of ways. Examples of interventions may include prevention of injuries, prevention of further complications, and recovery of patients who may be severely traumatised and/or injured (Richmond & Aitken, 2011). Moreover, a trauma nurse must be able to recognise a lifethreatening situation, prioritise patients according to their care needs, take part in resuscitation together with other medical staff, and provide patients' families with the appropriate care and support (Emergency Nurses Society of South Africa, 2010). In turn, this may expose nurses to severe emotional pain and suffering (Coetzee & Klopper, 2010; Hooper, Craig, Janvrin, Wetzel, & Reimels, 2010). Many nurses may state that they view their occupation as a calling. However, few of them are completely prepared for the emotional distress encountered due to forming caring relationships with their patients and their families (Aycock & Boyle, 2009; Walton & Alvarez, 2010).

Compassion Fatigue

Compassion Fatigue (CF) is a concept that has been researched in professional fields, such as counselling, psychology, teaching, social work and medicine (Yoder, 2010). However, over the past 20 years, the phenomenon of CF has been studied more rigorously within the area of caregiving strain, thus taking into consideration a broader selection of health-care professionals (Thomas & Wilson, 2004; Yoder, 2010).

The term CF was initially used in the area of burnout among nurses almost three decades ago (Joinson, 1992). Joinson (1992) discovered this state of fatigue while

studying nursing staff who displayed feelings of helplessness and anger. During this period, Joinson (1992) made use of this term in order to define a decrease in the ability to nurture that he had noticed among nursing professionals who worked in trauma units.

CF refers to the emotional, cognitive and behavioural reactions that are evident when a person becomes aware of an event that was traumatising to a significant other, the strain that is a direct result of wanting to relieve someone's suffering, or the result of over-involvement in patients' care (Anewalt, 2009; Chung, 2015; Day & Anderson, 2011; Figley, 1995). CF can also be defined as the "cost of caring" in terms of the physical, spiritual, cognitive, emotional, behavioural and interpersonal impact on individuals responsible for providing patients with the necessary care (Figley, 1995; Hinderer et al., 2014; Ledoux, 2015; Lombardo & Eyre, 2011; Yassen, 1995).

Compassionate Care

Compassion is imperative in a healthcare profession as it starts and sustains a caring and helping therapeutic relationship by showing sympathy towards a patient who is experiencing distress (American Nurses Association, 2015; Bramley & Matiti, 2014; Burnell, 2009; Davies, 2009; Roberts, Fenton, & Barnard, 2015; Young, Derr, Cicchillo, & Bressler, 2011). The compassion that nurses display towards their patients is an emotion that arises when exposed to the patient's suffering (Lown, 2016; Lown, Rosen, & Marttila, 2011; Post, 2011). Compassion enables health-care professionals to display a more affectionate response towards their suffering patients, as well as a deeper understanding of the trauma that the patient is experiencing (Beaumont, Durkin, Hollins, Martin, & Carson, 2016; Lown, 2016; Lown et al., 2011; Post, 2011). It may also help nurses to show patients that they are not alone during their time of suffering (Catarino, Gilbert, McEwan, & Baião, 2014; Pauley & McPherson, 2010; Van der Cingel, 2009). Compassion has various benefits, but the most prevalent is the fact that it produces a therapeutic relationship and environment which brings about patient and clinician satisfaction (Post, 2011). In nursing, compassion is an integral part of competence and is therefore something that should be cultivated (Geraghty, Lauva, & Oliver, 2016).

However, being exposed to traumatic situations on a regular basis can cause nurses to become emotionally detached. Emotional detachment indicates that nurses may be unable to connect with their patients on an emotional level, or may avoid situations that trigger unpleasant emotions (Hinderer et al., 2014). In other words, their level of compassion towards their patients may decline (Hinderer et al., 2014). Subsequently, this detachment can develop into compassion fatigue (CF) (Figley, 1995; Harris & Quinn Griffin, 2015). It is likely to bring about negative behaviour, such as poor patient treatment, errors in judgment and other mistakes that may be dangerous in a helping profession (Maiden, Georges, & Connelly, 2011). It is important to consider that nursing professionals working in trauma units are particularly susceptible to experiencing CF (Boyle, 2011). Not only do they display compassion towards patients, they also enter the patients' life at a significant time and become an active partner, rather than a mere observer in this patient's journey towards recovery (Boyle, 2011).

The constant exposure to trauma may explain the lack of compassion that has been noticed within healthcare systems and health organisations abroad (Francis, 2013; Health Information and Quality Authority, 2015), yet there is a lack of programmes such as therapeutic services that can aid nurses in recovering (Mohamed, 2016). Unfortunately, the consequences of working as a nursing professional, such as the development of CF, have been under-recognised and under-researched (Sabo, 2011). The fact that CF has not been formally defined within the nursing profession may have contributed towards the lack of exploration that would provide nursing professionals with an opportunity to recognise and overcome it in an effective manner (Coetzee & Klopper 2010). Furthermore, nurses receive limited to no formal support that can aid them in overcoming the negative emotional effects of CF (Aycock & Boyle, 2009; Potter et al., 2010). Therefore, there is a need for CF to be researched, specifically among nursing professionals working in a setting where a significant amount of trauma is experienced (Bhaga, 2010).

Fagin and Diers (1983) state the following:

Nursing is a metaphor for intimacy. Nurses are involved in the most private aspects of patients' lives and they cannot hide behind technology or a veil of omniscience as other practitioners in hospitals do. Nurses do for others publicly what healthy persons do for themselves behind closed doors. Nurses,

as trusted peers, are there to hear secrets, especially the ones born of vulnerability (p. 116).

Stressors

From the above literature, it has already been established that nurses work in highly stressful environments as they have to manage and cope with both chronic and acute trauma (Healy & Tyrell, 2011). This type of exposure may influence various aspects of nurses' lives (Cavanagh, 1997; Rajan, 2017; Rathore, Shukla, Singh, & Tiwari, 2012). The stress that nursing professionals experience is categorised according to three types of stressors, explaining the impact these stressors have on their overall wellbeing. The first category comprises **personal stressors**, which may include difficulties with regard to managing domestic, work and academic duties (Lambert & Lambert, 2008). In a study conducted in Udaipur, nurses reported that they had found it difficult to meet the needs of their spouses (Rathore et al., 2012). Furthermore, Rajan's (2017) study revealed the prevalence of family conflict as a result of the long hours that nurses work on a weekly basis. These long and inflexible hours may lead to a lack of care within nurses' families (Rajan, 2017). In addition, the feelings of depression and irritability experienced by nurses may have a negative impact on their family members and occupation (Banakhar, 2017; Caruso, 2014).

The second category, **interpersonal stressors**, consists of conflicting relationships with colleagues, senior staff or doctors in the work environment (Basson & Van der Merwe, 1994; Guidroz, Wang, & Perez, 2012). Conflict among nursing staff may arise due to competition among staff members, undefined expectations and roles within the workplace, the inability to function as a team and a lack of interpersonal communication skills (Marquis & Huston, 2012).

Lastly, providing care for distressed and dying patients, making mistakes, balancing countless responsibilities, long working hours and a heavy workload form part of the **occupational stressors** that nurses experience (Basson & Van der Merwe, 1994; Costa & Martins, 2011; Kilfedder, Power, & Wells, 2001; Lambert et al., 2004; Lim, Hepworth, & Bogossian, 2011; Najjar, Davis, Beck-Coon, & Doebbeling, 2009). Also, the death of patients brings about emotional fatigue as nurses may be exposed to death frequently (Chung, 2015; McCourt, Power, & Glackin, 2013). Studies by De Clercq, Meganck, Deheegher and Van Hoorde (2011) and Martins et al. (2014) found

that experiencing a patients' death and conveying the bad news to family members serve as two of the most stressful aspects in nursing. Not only do nurses have to experience the physical death of their patients, but they may also have to take care of remaining patients straight after a death has occurred (Gates, Gillespie, & Succop, 2011). As a result of moving on to care for other patients without having the necessary time to grieve, nurses may experience emotional build up (Gates et al., 2011; Gerow, Conejo, Alonzo, Davis, Rodgers, & Domian, 2010). In addition, nurses may experience a sense of loss, helplessness, frustration, guilt, a sense of failure, decreased self-esteem and sadness (Aycock & Boyle, 2009; Gerow et al., 2010; Martins et al., 2014; Shorter & Stayt, 2010; Walsh, 2009). If emotional build up is not addressed over time, it may become chronic and develop into CF (Aycock & Boyle, 2009).

In addition to the above-mentioned stressors, nurses may be subject to emotional depletion as a result of the emotionally demanding situations and stressful environments they encounter (Al-Shaqsi, Gauld, McBride, Al-Kashmiri, & Al-Harthy, 2015; Dolan, Esson, Grainger, Richardson, & Ardagh, 2011; Lyneham & Byrne, 2011; Richardson, Ardagh, Grainger, & Robinson, 2013). Nursing staff are further required to hide certain emotions as displaying them may come across as inappropriate (Gray, 2009). They follow a hidden rule book on which emotions are displayable and which are not (Diefendorff, Erickson, Grandey, & Dahling, 2011). Emotions, such as empathy, compassion and care are acceptable, whereas negative emotions, such as anger, sadness and severe distress should be regulated appropriately (Chou, Hecker, & Martin, 2012; Filstad, 2010; Hayward & Tuckey, 2011; Pisaniello, Winefield, & Delfabbro, 2012). In fact, only emotions that are beneficial to the patients' wellbeing may be displayed by a nurse (Morgan & Lynn, 2009). This may amplify the amount of stress that nurses experience in a situation that is traumatic to them as well (Chou et al., 2012).

CF in Health Care

CF is unique due to health-care workers' pre-occupation with the distress and trauma that patients experience (Figley, 2002; Price, 2013; Showalter, 2010; Thomas & Wilson, 2004). As a result, recent studies began to define CF specifically within the area of healthcare as the negative emotional consequences that are linked with the

caring process as health-care professionals are exposed to the physical and psychological pain and distress of patients (Davies, 2009; Hinderer et al., 2014).

For the purposes of this research, the focus will be solely on CF. However, there are various similarities between CF and burnout (Najjar et al., 2009; Yoder, 2010). Therefore, it is important to differentiate between these two concepts. Burnout was originally defined by Maslach (1982) as a state of emotional fatigue, depersonalisation and a feeling of decreased personal competency that develops among individuals who work with people. Tucker, Weymiller, Cutshall, Rhudy, and Lohse (2012) further state that burnout develops as a result of chronic stress in the work environment. Even though burnout affects individuals in all occupations, it is more prevalent within the healthcare system as health-care providers are continuously exposed to stressful situations (Angelo & Chambel, 2015). On the other hand, CF is experienced as a result of individuals' perceived failure of their rescue-caretaking strategies, which results in guilt and distress. Furthermore, CF occurs as a result of close health-care interactions with patients who are experiencing distress, whereas burnout is acquired as a result of environmental or systemic stressors (Figley, 1995, 2002; Potter et al., 2010).

The literature states that CF is related to terms, such as secondary traumatisation, vicarious traumatisation and secondary traumatic stress (STS) (McGibbon, Peter, & Gallop, 2010). STS indicates that nursing professionals may experience emotional trauma as a result of being exposed to high levels of stress (Mealer et al., 2007; Van Dernoot Lipsky, 2009). STS is related to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and its symptomatology corresponds with individuals who have been subjected directly to a traumatic event (Bride, Robinson, Yegidis, & Figley, 2004; Cieslak et al., 2013; Figley, 1995; Motta, 2008). STS is also connected to emotional exhaustion resulting from depersonalisation (Cieslak et al., 2013). STS may include symptoms, such as avoidance of cues that serve as reminders of the event, continuous physiological arousal and re-experiencing the trauma (Cieslak et al., 2013; Figley, 1995; Stamm, 2010). These symptoms may develop among trauma care providers one month or more after they have been exposed to a traumatic event (Cieslak et al., 2013; Figley, 1995). STS tends to take place more frequently among nurses who are empathetic towards their patients as compared to those who are less empathetic (Mealer et al., 2007; Stamm, 2010).

Compassion and empathy have been found to play a significant role in being a successful nursing professional (Dunn, 2009; Hooper et al., 2010; Mealer et al., 2007; Schantz, 2007). As stated above, compassion can be defined as the capacity to understand the emotions of another person or oneself; it is a state where one feels concern *for* the patient (Klimecki & Singer, 2015). It can be portrayed by warmheartedness, displaying concern towards another person and a personal drive to improve a patients' state of suffering (Klimecki & Singer, 2015). Empathy can be seen as sharing a patient's emotions without taking them on as one's own (Klimecki & Singer, 2015). Even though compassion and empathy are two separate concepts, having compassion for someone can lead to the development of empathetic feelings for that person (Klimecki & Singer, 2015).

CF does not develop overnight; there is a gradual progression of emotional unease up to the point where CF is experienced (Showalter, 2010). The process begins with an individual experiencing compassion discomfort, followed by compassion stress and, finally, experiencing a state of CF (Coetzee & Klopper, 2010; Day & Anderson, 2011; Yoder, 2010). This state of CF often surpasses nursing professionals' capacity to recuperate from it (Townsend & Campbell, 2009). In turn, CF can result in burnout if it is not treated (Adams, Figley, & Boscarino, 2008; Bhaga, 2010; Day & Anderson, 2011; Dominguez-Gomez & Rutledge, 2009; Maier, 2011; Sabo, 2011; Ward-Griffin, St-Amant, & Brown, 2011). Figley (1995) states:

There is a cost to caring. Professionals who listen to clients' stories of fear, pain and suffering may feel similar fear, pain and suffering because they care. Sometimes we feel we are losing our own sense of self to the clients we serve (p. 1).

Figley's (1995) statement is supported by Bush (2009), who found that the environmental stressors of nursing staff, such as a heavy workload, extensive working hours and the continuous need to react to a patient's needs may leave nurses feeling tired, depressed and detached. In addition, long-term effects can include a diminished sense of personal safety and empathy, a decline in self-control, a feeling of hopelessness and the use of maladaptive coping mechanisms, such as drug or alcohol use (Portnoy, 2011). In turn, these effects may cause nurses to provide ineffective health-care services, an increase in sick leave, and a decrease in job satisfaction and productivity at work (Aycock & Boyle, 2009; Coetzee & Klopper, 2010; Najjar et al.,

2009). The consequences seem to increase gradually over time, especially if nurses refuse to pay attention to the symptoms or are unaware of how to deal with them (Drury, Craigie, Francis, Aoun, & Hegney, 2014; Figley, 2002).

In spite of the potential negative effects of CF, this phenomenon often goes unnoticed among nursing professionals due to lack of awareness in practice and contradictory definitions in the literature (Aycock & Boyle, 2009). Therefore, the provision of findings on ways to reduce CF can be beneficial to both individual nurses and the hospitals in which they work (Aycock & Boyle, 2009; Sheppard, 2015; Sorenson, Bolick, Wright, & Hamilton, 2016). The potential benefits include a decline in sick leave, increased participation in service initiatives, improvement in staff morale and their overall productivity at work, an increase in personal and family satisfaction at home, and patient satisfaction at work (Aycock & Boyle, 2009; Coetzee & Klopper, 2010; Najjar et al., 2009).

Bush (2009) suggests that early retirement or a change in occupation often occurs as a result of nurses continually giving of themselves without having the correct coping strategies in place. This includes taking time off to recuperate from trauma or fatigue. Yoder (2010) also emphasises that:

An understanding of compassion fatigue, trigger situations, and coping strategies in nursing may help prevent negative effects on the nurse's personal life and on the ability to perform his or her job and help prevent nurses from leaving the profession at a time when the need for nurses is great (p. 191).

Research in this area has been predominantly quantitative in nature and has focused on the negative effects associated with CF (Ungar, 2012). Moreover, most recent research in the field of nursing is focused on burnout and job-satisfaction (Baranda, 2017; Khamisa, Oldenburg, Peltzer, & Ilic, 2015; Lahana et al., 2017; Yasmin, & Marzuki, 2015). Various interventions to combat CF have been introduced in recent studies, including education on mindfulness and self-empowerment (Flarity, Gentry, & Mesnikoff, 2013; Gauthier, Meyer, Grefe, & Gold, 2015; Günüşen & Üstün, 2009; 2010; Portnoy, 2011). These interventions also include teaching coping strategies and empowering health-care managers. It has been found that CF can be successfully identified and prevented when nurses are taught about effective coping and resilience (Coetzee & Klopper, 2010; Hart Brannan, & De Chesnay, 2012;

Sorenson et al., 2016). Such programmes can aid in increasing individuals' levels of self-esteem and coping with stress and trauma (Finzi-Dottan & Kormosh, 2016). Furthermore, a qualitative study is capable of providing a deeper comprehension of CF that will enable people to identify the need for educational programmes on coping with CF and resilience (Florczak, 2013; Potter, Pion, & Gentry, 2015).

There is a specific need for research on the enhancement of personal skills such as resilience to overcome CF, especially in South Africa (Najjar et al., 2009). Resilience is a multifaceted concept that refers to an individual's ability to overcome adverse circumstances (Kinman & Grant, 2011; Rutter, 2007) and it has recently been acknowledged as significant in overcoming CF (Kapoulitsas & Corcoran, 2015; Kinman & Grant, 2011).

Resilience

Resilience has been studied for the past 50 years. As a result, various perspectives on resilience have developed in research (Anderson, 2015; Cutter, 2016; Dugan & Coles, 1989; Glantz & Johnson, 1999; Grove, 2013; Joseph, 1994; Robinson & Carson, 2016; Taylor & Wang, 2000; Thomsen, 2002; Ungar, 2005) although there is still no formal agreement on a distinct definition for it (Masten, 2004; McGeary, 2011). Research states that resilience must rather be recognised as a process: it must be seen as an interaction between individuals and their environment, and a balance between the ability to cope and the stress experienced (Kim-Cohen & Turkewitz, 2012; Masten, 1994).

Resilience is a construct that stems from the Latin word *resiliens* and was used in the natural sciences to refer to the elastic capacity of a substance (Joseph, 1994). According to Rutter (2008), resilience is an individual's ability to bounce back after difficulty. Moreover, when individuals thrive and develop positively despite adversity, they are seen as resilient (Wu et al., 2013). Within a workplace setting, resilience can be seen as the ability to overcome stress by making use of adaptive coping mechanisms that aid an individual in recovering after being exposed to a significant amount of stress (Herrman et al., 2011). Similarly, Ungar (2008) defines resilience as follows:

In the context of exposure to significant adversity, whether psychological,

environmental, or both, [and] is both the capacity of individuals to navigate their way to health-sustaining resources, including opportunities to experience feelings of well-being, and a condition of the individual's family, community and culture to provide these health resources and experiences in culturally meaningful ways (p. 225).

However, for the purpose of this study, resilience is conceptualised in line with Bonanno's (2008) work as a skill that an individual possesses in order to sustain stability and healthy levels of physical and psychological functioning despite experiencing adversity. In other words, when resilient individuals are exposed to risk factors within the workplace, they experience a positive (rather than a negative) outcome and are capable of eluding the undesirable consequences of stress (Kinman & Grant, 2011; Saleebey, 2006). His definition is utilised in this study as he has done groundbreaking work among individuals who have experienced severe loss or trauma (Bonanno, 2008; Bonanno & Mancini, 2008; Bonanno & Mancini, 2012; Bonanno, Westphal, & Mancini, 2011). Bonanno (2008) sees resilience as the core experience that people have when working through traumatic experiences.

In order to research resilience adequately, it is important to comprehend the connection between stress and resilience (Everly, Welzant, & Jacobson, 2008). Overcoming adversity is often more about the manner in which an individual responds to stressors than the actual stressors themselves (Bush, 2009; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Resilience is multifaceted (Bonanno, 2008) and is composed of various components, including positive emotions, such as smiling and laughter, hardiness, repressive coping and self-enhancement (Bonanno, 2008; Masten, 2004). In addition, resilience originates from a number of sources, including one's social support system (family and external sources of support) (Bonanno, 2005; 2008; Bonanno & Mancini, 2008). Various effective coping mechanisms have been linked with resilience, which include facing one's fears, being optimistic, having a moral compass, an individual's religion/spirituality, role models who are resilient, social support, being physically and cognitively fit and flexible, and having meaning and purpose (Gito, Ihara, & Ogata, 2013; Glass, 2009; Southwick & Charney, 2012). These problem- and emotion-focused coping mechanisms are positive ways of coping with the amount of stress experienced by nurses (Southwick & Charney, 2012). Support and meaningful

connections with friends and family can also be seen as resilience-building strategies (Zander, Hutton, & King, 2013). Moreover, studies among people experiencing trauma have revealed a clear link between social support and resilient outcomes (Bonanno, 2008; Bonanno, Galea, Bucciarelli, & Vlahov, 2007). Therefore, it is clear that problem- and emotion-focused coping mechanisms can aid nurses in having a more balanced lifestyle and provide them with a source of support (Southwick & Charney, 2012).

Resilience in the South African Context

Over the past ten years, resilience has been thoroughly researched in the South African context. However, this research involves resilience within contexts of poverty, education and crime (Cooke, 2015; Leoschut & Burton, 2009; Theron & Theron, 2010). While Matheson and colleagues (2016) state that research on resilience among health-care professionals is not as prevalent, Stephens (2013) mentions that it is becoming increasingly prevalent within healthcare professions. Most of the recent research studies that have been conducted on resilience within the South African healthcare sector focus on overcoming burnout within the public sector (Koen, Van Eeden & Wissing, 2011; Phyffer, 2015; Ramalisa, 2014). However, as CF develops before the individual reaches the point of burnout (Adams et al., 2008; Bhaga, 2010; Day & Anderson, 2011; Dominguez-Gomez & Rutledge, 2009; Maier, 2011; Sabo, 2011; Ward-Griffin et al., 2011), a greater understanding of diminishing the effects of CF by means of resilience would make a valuable contribution to the field. Tubbert (2016) confirms that increasing one's resilience may aid in countering the adverse effects of CF.

Therefore, there is a need for the development of effective approaches to promote resilience which, in turn, counter difficulties and allow individuals the opportunity not only to cope in their environment, but also to thrive (Bowden, Smith, Parker, & Boxall, 2015). Resilience can be developed and strengthened by making it a part of nursing training before nurses enter into the official workplace (Jackson et al., 2007).

Ungar (2003) emphasises that qualitative methods are relevant to resilience research as they enable the detection of unidentified processes. Furthermore, because qualitative research examines resilience within a particular context, these studies tend to empower the minority "voices" such as those of nurses' (Ungar, 2003). Nurses

may be seen as minority "voices" as they hardly receive the recognition they deserve (Finkelman & Kenner, 2013). Furthermore, the public does not always understand what the field of nursing entails (Finkelman & Kenner, 2013). It is important to keep in mind that every individual's resilience process is unique; therefore, it is important to take into consideration that the attempts to predict resilience may be challenging (Ungar, 2003).

Coping Strategies Contributing to Resilience in Healthcare

Since the main objective of this study is to explore the experiences of nurses with regard to CF and resilience, the coping mechanisms they use form an important part of this study in that they protect against the development of CF and can enhance resilience (Najjar et al., 2009; Yoder, 2010). Coping mechanisms can be defined as thoughts and behaviours that one adopts to deal more successfully with difficulties (Martins et al., 2014). Coping mechanisms can either be emotion- or problemfocused (Akuroma, Eye, & Curran, 2016; Lazarus, 1993). Emotion-focused coping is aimed at managing emotional suffering (Akuroma et al., 2016; Fresco, Williams, & Nugent, 2006). For example, a person's reactions to stressful factors may be altered (Lazarus & Lazarus, 2005; Lim, Bogossian, & Ahern, 2010). During problemfocused coping, active steps are taken to change negative circumstances into something more positive (Akuroma et al., 2016). In other words, factors in the environment that are causing distress are removed (Lazarus & Lazarus, 2005; Lim et al., 2010). Both types of coping mechanisms may bring about emotional tranquility (Akuroma et al., 2016), and most people make use of these methods in order to cope successfully. However, the use of problem-focused coping has been connected to positive outcomes with regard to coping in an occupational setting (Beh & Loo, 2012).

According to De Beer, Brysiewizz, and Bhengu (2011), nurses need to acquire the correct knowledge and skills in order to cope with constantly having to care for severely ill and traumatised patients. However, an individual's ability to make use of the correct skills and coping mechanisms may be something that is learnt over time (Mrayyan, 2009). Therefore, experience in this field is one of the most important aspects of coping successfully (Mrayyan, 2009). It has been discovered that distressing emotions tend to decrease with experience (Shimizu, Couo & Merchan-

Hamann, 2011), while an individual's skills, self-confidence, motivation and competence in the field tend to increase with experience (Gaki, Kontodimopoulos, & Niakas, 2013; Gulzar, Shamim, & Khuwaja, 2010; Hertting, Nilsson, Theorell, & Sätterlund Larsson, 2004; Koch, Proynova, Paech, & Wetter, 2014; Sparks, 2012).

In addition, turning to a social support system in times of distress can be seen as a problem-focused coping mechanism as the individual actively pursues support from loved ones in order to reduce his or her distress (Akbar, Elahi, Mohammadi, & Khoshknab, 2016). Having a strong support system can improve overall quality of life, aid individuals in dealing with a stressful environment, contribute towards resilience, and may decrease physical and psychological health problems, including anxiety and depression (Button, 2008; Davis, Lind, & Sorensen, 2013; Prati & Pietrantoni, 2009; Prati & Pietrantoni, 2010; Yılmaz, 2017). Gumani (2012) also found that support from both family members and colleagues aids in the coping process. Family members may be supportive as they are the people with whom one feels most comfortable (Gumani, 2012). On the other hand, colleagues provide a sense of support as they are the people who truly understand what you may be going through and are able to empathise on a deeper level than anyone else (Gumani, 2012). Moreover, positive collegial relationships may assist in coping as these relationships create a supportive and pleasant working environment (Akbar et al., 2016; Duffy, 2013; Kubichka, 2016; Sias, 2008; Vessey, Demarco, & Difazio, 2010).

Thirdly, being prepared to face the next traumatic situation (Sandström, Juuso, & Engström, 2016) may serve as a problem-focused coping mechanism for nurses as they actively pursue the right knowledge and skills in order to prepare themselves for the unexpected.

A number of emotion-focused coping strategies have also been found to be helpful in the nursing profession. Emotional expression in the presence of a trusted source can aid indviduals in managing their emotional responses (Pennebaker & Evans, 2014). Moreover, it can assist them in adjusting their emotions according to what is applicable to the specific environment, and can also increase overall life satisfaction (Pennebaker & Evans, 2014). Research also suggests that emotional expression can protect nurses against emotional fatigue (Perry, Toffner, Merrick, & Dalton, 2011; Van der Colff & Rothmann, 2014). Furthermore, speaking to someone about the trauma that has been experienced can aid nurses in displaying their true emotions in

the presence of a trusted source and therefore enable a higher level of emotional control in stressful situations (Kinman & Leggetter, 2016). According to Burleson's (2009) findings, individuals who vent their emotions in the presence of another may experience a decrease in the amount of negative emotions and an increase in positive thoughts and overall wellbeing. In other words, emotional expression can assist nurses in adhering to the rules regarding appropriate emotional expression towards patients and staff (Kinman & Leggetter, 2016).

Furthermore, it has been found that religion frequently emerges as a positive coping mechanism among individuals who have experienced trauma (Bryant-Davis, Ellis, Burke-Maynard, Moon, & Counts, 2012). Victims of secondary trauma may make use of religious coping mechanisms to form a more intimate relationship with God and other individuals with a similar religious viewpoint, to feel more in control of their lives during stressful situations, thrive with regard to their mental and physical wellbeing, find a sense of meaning and strengthen their level of resilience (Claborn, 2009; Southwick & Charney, 2012). Research conducted in Uganda revealed that religion provides nurses with a sense of support during difficult times (Harrowing & Mill, 2010; Nderitu, 2010). Globally, religion is considered one of the adaptive coping mechanisms that nurses can make use of in order to work through trauma (Ekedahl & Wengstrom, 2010; Rose & Glass, 2008; Shinbara & Olson, 2010).

Self-compassion is another factor that has emerged as a buffer against developing psychological disorders and aids in developing a healthy level of resilience (MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Mantzios, 2014; Neely, Schallert, Mohammed, Roberts, & Chen, 2009; Neff, 2009; Smeets, Neff, Alberts, & Peters, 2014). Various researchers have found a link between compassionate care towards others and self-compassion (Lindsay & Creswell, 2014; Neff & Pommier, 2013; Welp & Brown, 2014). Self-compassion can be defined as compassion that is displayed towards oneself, contributes towards the prevention of CF and enhances compassionate care for patients (Beaumont et al., 2016; Gustin & Wagner, 2013; MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Neff, 2003; Wong & Mak, 2012).

A study in Norway also identified reflection as a valuable means of coping among nurses (Bakibinga, Vinje & Mittelmark, 2012; Vinje & Mittelmark, 2008). Wright (2010) states that self-reflection aids in maintaining the necessary energy needed to

fulfill tasks and being more conscious of the passion you have for your occupation. In turn, it may lead to self-fulfillment and personal growth (Wright, 2010).

A positive attitude (Chang & Chan, 2015), motivation (Toode, Routasalo, & Suominen, 2011) and openness to experiencing a complete range of emotions, from happiness to sadness (Gjengedal et al., 2013) have also been found to serve as helpful ways of coping among nurses, especially among those working in trauma units.

Some nurses may not necessarily have the required strategies to cope in a stressful environment (Magyar & Theophilos, 2010). Therefore, Mohamed (2016) states that hospitals should make classes and therapeutic services available to medical staff that find it difficult to deal with traumatic situations. Johnson (2016) further recommends that debriefing takes place immediately after exposure to a traumatic event. Lavoie, Talbot and Mathieu (2011) found that nurses working in trauma benefited from therapeutic sessions.

In light of the above, CF and resilience play a fundamental role in the lives of nurses and are therefore worthy of further investigation. As part of the research process, certain methodological steps were implemented.

Methodology

Research Question

The aim of this study was to explore and describe South African nursing professionals' experiences of compassion fatigue and resilience. Thus, the following research question was posed: What are the experiences of nursing professionals with regard to compassion fatigue and resilience?

Research Design and Methodology

The approach of this research study was qualitative in nature. Qualitative studies place emphasis on collecting rich and descriptive data, with the main goal of encapsulating each participant's unique experience of the topic at hand (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Howitt, 2010). A qualitative method was used to gain a better understanding of the topic on which a limited amount of literature is available (EBSCOHost database search, January 2018).

Furthermore, the study was conducted by subscribing to a social contructivist paradigm. Therefore, the main objective of the research is to emphasise each individual's views and knowledge of a situation (Andrews, 2012). The use of a social constructivist paradigm and spending time with nurses enabled the researcher to understand and share their experiences of compassion fatigue and resilience.

Language and everyday interactions are important factors in the construction of subjective reality (Lewis, 2015). In the current study, the participants often made use of metaphors to explain their experiences. However, the interviews were mostly conducted in Afrikaans, and it was therefore important for the researcher to capture the rich meaning of each metaphor while translating the interviews into English for academic purposes. In this study, translation occurred after interpretation. Van Nes, Abma, Jonsson, and Deeg (2010) state that the researcher can avoid mistranslations by keeping the research in its source language which, in this case, was Afrikaans, for as long as possible. Researchers also suggest that the involvement of a single translator, who is competent in both languages, can result in a reliable translation (Squires, 2009; Twinn, 1997).

A multiple case study design (Yin, 2014) was used as this allows for the same research question to be addressed in numerous settings by making use of the same data collection methods and analysis (Stake, 2013). Qualitative case studies facilitate a deep exploration of concepts within a particular context and make use of several sources of data. This warrants that the phenomenon is not studied solely through one lens, but various lenses, which allows multiple facets to be exposed and recognised (Baxter & Jack, 2008). Another advantage of this approach is the fact that researchers are able to research the phenomenon at hand while working in close collaboration with their participants (Crabtree & Miller, 1999). At the same time, this approach allows participants' voices to be heard (Crabtree & Miller, 1999). It is imperative for nurses' voices to be heard in South Africa as they are currently the leading health-care professionals in our healthcare system (Bhaga, 2010; Campbell et al., 2009; Engelbrecht et al., 2008; Naik, 2016). In addition, this design allows the researcher to gain an increased understanding of the participants' actions (Lather, 1992; Robottom & Hart, 1993) with reference to CF and resilience in the current study. Although this method is widely used and has various advantages, it is not always fully understood. As a result of contradictory epistemological hypotheses and intricate characteristics,

proving scientific precision may be problematic and the findings diffcult to justify (Baškarada, 2014).

Participants and Sampling Procedures

The purposeful sampling (Nishishiba, Jones, & Kraner, 2013; Yin, 2011) of participants was most suitable for the current study. The researcher selected participants intentionally according to their potential to make a meaningful contribution to the data. According to Yin (2014), a total of six to eight participants is suggested when conducting a qualitative study. Crouch and McKenzie (2016) state that a small sample size is sufficient and may even increase a study's validity as the researcher can form close associations with each participant, which also enhances the overall quality of the interviews. Sample size in qualitative research relies on how well it can inform the subject being studied (Baker & Edwards, 2012; Sargeant, 2012). Therefore, a total of six participants were selected from a population of nurses who have previous experience or who are currently working in a private trauma unit. Data saturation was reached with the six participants who were selected as sufficient information was available in order to replicate the study (O'Reilly & Parker, 2012; Walker, 2012) and additional coding was no longer possible (Guest, Bunce, & Johnson, 2006).

The inclusion criteria for this specific study were that participants had to have at least five years' experience in the nursing profession and had to be capable of expressing themselves comfortably in either English or Afrikaans. Nurses who were being treated for a mental health condition at the time of data collection were not included in the study.

Participant 1 was 28 years of age and employed at a private hospital situated in Bloemfontein. As she is bilingual, both interviews were conducted in English. She had a total of five years' experience in nursing, during which time she had worked in a private trauma unit for three years and a psychiatric hospital for two years. She had decided to pursue a career in nursing because she found the science behind it fascinating and challenging. She described nursing as one of her biggest passions in life and loved being able to serve others and make a difference in their lives on a daily basis. She was married and stated that she truly appreciated her husband's support in terms of her career.

Participant 2 was 31 years of age and employed at a private hospital situated in Gauteng. As she is Afrikaans speaking, both interviews were conducted in Afrikaans. She had a total of six years' experience in nursing. She was employed at a trauma unit and had a total of four years' experience in trauma care. Initially, she had studied for a different career, but later realised that nursing was the career she wanted to pursue. She described herself as a positive and religious person who applied her faith to situations regarding her career. She stated that her religion was where she got her support and motivation to continue her work. She enjoyed working with people and strove to be the best nurse she could possibly be. Participant 2 was married and had one child. Even though she found it difficult to balance her occupational and family responsibilities, she derived enough inspiration from her career to continue in this field.

Participant 3 was 30 years of age and employed at a private hospital in Bloemfontein. As she is Afrikaans speaking, both interviews were conducted in Afrikaans. She had a total of seven years' experience in nursing, during which time she had worked in various departments, including ICU, oncology and medical wards, and was working in a trauma unit at the time of this study. Her passion for helping others had always been present, and she could not have found a better career to fit her personality. She described herself as a vibrant and positive person, who enjoyed the challenges associated with working in a trauma unit. Participant 3 was engaged and living with her fiancé. She found that her career often had a negative effect on her relationship with her fiancé as it was difficult for him to understand what she was experiencing on a daily basis. However, she was grateful for his support and stated that by simply listening to her stories, he had already lightened her load.

Participant 4 was 28 years of age and employed at a private hospital situated in Bloemfontein. As she is Afrikaans speaking, both interviews were conducted in Afrikaans. She had a total of five years' experience in nursing, during which time she had worked in ICU for two years and in a trauma unit for three years. During the interviews, she explained that ever since she could remember, nursing had always been the career she had wanted to pursue. Her mother was also a nurse, which had encouraged her to pursue this career, particularly since her mother's stories had always been so fascinating. She also enjoyed being surrounded by people in her occupation as she did not enjoy functioning alone. She explained that she had found

joy in helping others and receiving feedback from patients stating that they had appreciated her services. Participant 4 had recently married her husband and mentioned that her career had had an influence on their relationship as they both worked difficult hours, which resulted in their seeing each other for limited times during the week. She also stated that she had been considering moving to a different area in nursing as it would be difficult to work nightshifts while raising her children in future.

Participant 5 was 52 years of age and had been qualified as a registered nurse since 1989. As she is Afrikaans speaking, both interviews were conducted in Afrikaans. She was pursuing her own business within the medical field, and had completed a postgraduate degree in oncology and wound care. For eight of the 28 years she had spent working as a nurse, she had worked in a trauma unit. She had also worked in psychiatry, theatre and oncology wards. She described herself as someone who loved working with people as she derived energy from being around people. She entered the field of nursing because she had felt passionate about assisting people in a medical setting. Participant 5 was married and had two children. She explained that her career was such an integral part of her life that it automatically influenced her family life. She stated that she had often arrived home and taken out her frustrations on her husband and children, but that this had improved drastically over the years as she continually learned how to cope effectively with her stress.

Participant 6 was 29 years of age and employed at a private hospital in Bloemfontein. As she is Afrikaans speaking, both interviews were conducted in Afrikaans. She had a total of five years' experience in nursing and was employed in trauma care where she had been working for four years. She had also worked in psychiatry for one year. She stated that she had wanted to be a nurse ever since she was a little girl. She loved being able to assist people on a daily basis and had a passion for working in trauma. She would be furthering her career soon by specialising in trauma nursing. She mentioned that she had loved the adrenaline rush she got from working in trauma units, that she had enjoyed the challenges she had encountered in her job and that she never wanted to stop learning. Although she had been married, she and her husband were in a long-distance relationship at the time as his job had involved travelling internationally. Her mother lived with her and provided her with a sense of support. She felt as though she had often taken negative

experiences home from work and had spoken to her mother about this. Even though this helped her to work through these experiences, it had had a negative impact on her relationship with her mother.

Data Collection Method

Individual, semi-structured interviews (Howitt & Cramer, 2011) were used to collect the data. The interviews provided the researcher with the opportunity to obtain a deeper understanding of each participant's unique experiences and insights (Seidman, 2013). Furthermore, the semi-structured nature of the interviews allowed the researcher to be flexible during the interviews and to structure follow-up questions according to the insights and experiences of each unique individual. This brought about rich and descriptive data on the nurses' experiences with regard to compassion fatigue and resilience.

Triangulation was used in order to increase the study's trustworthiness and rigour (Braun & Clarke, 2013; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Therefore, two in-depth interviews were conducted with each participant between April and October 2017, thus allowing enough time for reflection between interviews. Interviews were recorded with the written consent of each participant and were conducted after working hours in a confidential space of their choice.

Interviews are considered a significant source of evidence, especially for case study research (Yin, 2009). It provides the researcher with the opportunity to gain an in-depth understanding of the participants' experiences, emotions, feelings and opinions regarding the research subject (Braun & Clarke, 2013; Seidman, 2013). Personal interviews were helpful in collecting data on this specific research subject as they allowed the researcher to have personal and direct contact with the interviewees. It is, however, important for the interviewer to have the necessary skills to conduct an interview in a successful manner (Kvale, 2008). In order to ensure that the interviewer was prepared and had the necessary skills to conduct an interview, a pilot interview was conducted before commencing with the official interviews for this study. Firstly, the pilot interview helped the researcher to feel more comfortable in the official interviews conducted for this study. It also assisted the researcher in swiftly and accurately formulating follow-up questions. Lastly, it helped the

researcher to develop the required confidence and professionalism to successfully conduct the interviews.

The interview schedule for the first interviews can be found in Appendix A. The second interview's questions were formulated in a unique manner according the interviewees' answers during the first interviews.

Data Analysis

Thematic analysis was used to ensure epistemological flexibility and rich, detailed data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This method was used in order to identify, analyse and report the key themes and sub-themes contained in the data set (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

The first step involved transcribing the recorded interviews, while the second involved becoming familiar with the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). During the second step, the researcher immersed herself in the data by reading and rereading it. This step also created the foundation for more in-depth analysis. The third step included generating initial codes (Braun & Clarke, 2006), which involved recognising a basic element within the raw data that can be measured in a significant way with regard to the topic being studied (Boyatzis, 1998). An example of a code that was identified in this study is: "Sometimes I can feel I need a holiday due to mental and emotional exhaustion."

Thereafter, the codes were retyped into a separate document and the researcher searched for themes based on an analysis of the recognised codes. This included focusing on the broader themes rather than merely on the codes, as well as categorising the codes into possible themes (Braun & Clarke, 2006). An example of a theme that was identified in this study is "fatigue". The fourth step involved reviewing the themes that had been identified already. The themes that were identified as overarching were sorted accordingly (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Examples of overarching themes in this study were "emotional fatigue" and "fatigue: its impact on friends and family". These two overarching themes were combined to form the theme "fatigue". Next, the researcher defined and named the themes. This involved further refining and defining the existing themes and then analysing the data within these themes to ensure that they fitted together in a meaningful manner (Braun & Clarke, 2006). In the sixth step, definitions and names that encapsulated the core of each

identified theme were formulated. The last step consisted of writing a dissertation based on the analysis of the collected data in order to address the research question.

Rigour and Trustworthiness

Credibility, dependability, confirmability and transferability were applied in order to ensure the trustworthiness of this research study (Ryan, Coughlan, & Cronin, 2007). Credibility (Maree & Van der Westhuizen, 2010) was increased by providing the participants with an opportunity to view the findings and offer opinions on whether these were in agreement with their own experiences. The interviewees were consulted regarding the findings of both interviews. Reflective journaling (Ryan et al., 2007) allowed the researcher to maintain a record of the research process and to document all the decisions made. It also allowed the researcher to provide evidence of the acquired data, to recognise samples of the work in progress and, lastly, to take previous reflections into consideration. This ensured dependability (Ryan et al., 2007). Notes were written by the researcher throughout the research process and after interviews, which allowed the researcher to become aware of and manage any personal biases. The researcher's reflective journal can be found in Appendix C. Dependability was further enhanced by making use of triangulation which ensured the replicability of the findings (Saldaña, 2015). The supervisor and co-supervisor of the study aided in anlysing the data and external reviews, which ensured that the findings were verified and validated, thus ensuring confirmability (Maree & Van der Westhuizen, 2010). Lastly, the findings can potentially be applied to similar contexts as the researcher provided a comprehensive description of the research process and methodology of this specific research study, thus ensuring transferability (Krefting, 1991).

Ethical Considerations

Permission to conduct the study was granted by the Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of the Humanities, University of the Free State (Letter of ethical clearance can be found in Appendix D). The researcher adhered to the broad principles of non-maleficence and beneficence throughout the research process. Therefore, written informed consent was gathered from every participant. The participants were informed that their participation was entirely voluntary and that they had the right to withdraw at any point in the process (Maree, 2007). In order to maintain

confidentiality, pseudonyms (Maree, 2007; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Pope & Mays, 2013) were used throughout the data analysis, discussions and report writing. Electronic copies of the data were saved on the researcher's personal laptop and all files were password protected. Hard copies were stored in a locked cabinet. Due to the sensitive nature of the research, it was important to have strategies in place to mitigate any harmful emotional consequences that could have been associated with this study. If a participant experienced distress, the individual would have been referred to a student psychologist who could provide her with therapeutic services free of charge. Alternatively, a referral to a private psychologist could also be made, depending on the individual's preference. However, none of the participants were in need of such services.

Results and Discussion

The analysis of the transcribed interviews revealed four main themes and 14 subthemes. Therefore, this study contributes to a deeper understanding of nurses' experiences of CF and resilience. The first theme focuses solely on the development of compassion fatigue among nurses. The next theme, coping strategies, focuses on overcoming CF and the development of resilience. The last two themes explore the development and significance of CF and resilience in the nursing profession.

The first theme that emerged consisted of the fatigue that the participants had experienced within their occupation. Several subthemes also emerged within this theme, which included the impact of fatigue on the nurses as individuals as well as on their families, the experience of emotional fatigue, distressing emotions, CF and secondary traumatic stress that had developed as a result of nursing. Lastly, the impact of patient deaths on nurses will be discussed.

Theme 1: Fatigue and the Factors Contributing to It

The impact of fatigue. The participants mentioned that physical and emotional fatigue had impacted their interpersonal lives. For example, they mentioned that on several occasions, the fatigue and trauma they had experienced never stayed at work; instead, they always ended up taking it home and talking to their families about it. Furthermore, their work became the main topic of discussion; therefore, their other responsibilities tended to be neglected. P1 stated that it had felt as though she was

always talking about work-related topics and that as a result, her personal life was being neglected:

And even if you're at home, you talk about your patients or what happened during the day. You don't talk about yourself, or, or personal problems you're experiencing. And that's also important to kind of, you know, let out.

P2 spoke about the impact of fatigue on family relationships due to working long hours. She stated that her neglectful behaviour towards her family was not always fair as they also required the same level of attention her patients had received on a daily basis:

We don't see our families often due to our occupation. The people you spend the most time with are the people that you work with ... You become tougher on the people who are closest to you ... You can still show compassion at work, but it is difficult to show compassion at home when a family member is sick because you deal with it everyday and get so tired of it ... It isn't fair towards one's loved ones to go on about what has taken place at work.

P3 explained that her occupation had impacted her relationship with her fiancé due to the long and impractical hours she worked on a weekly basis. She further stated that she often tended to take out her frustrations on him:

My job does have an impact on my fiancé and my relationship. Sometimes he will tell me that I am being rude ... My job also impacts on our relationship as we don't have as much time together; we don't always have time to talk in the evenings and sometimes I'm just too tired. We will lie in bed speaking and then I will fall asleep ... It gets to you but you are under pressure so you just have to carry on and then you reach a day where you just want to cry or you just get angry and then I end up being mean towards my fiancé. When it gets to this point you realise how much a situation really touched you.

The participants mentioned that they were not always able to pay as much attention to family responsibilities as a result of the constant fatigue they had experienced. Similarly, a study done internationally, in Udaipur, revealed that nurses had found it difficult to meet the needs of their spouses (Rathore et al., 2012). Rajan's (2017) study among nurses also discovered that family conflict had arisen within the homes of nurses due to the long hours that they had worked on a weekly

basis. Moreover, these long and inflexible hours may lead to a lack of care within their families (Rajan, 2017). Emotional fatigue emerged as a significant contributing factor to the overall fatigue experienced by the nurses in this study.

Emotional fatigue. Several participants agreed that they often felt emotionally fatigued as a result of their occupations. Some participants mentioned that they had become emotionally numb or blunted towards their patients due to the amount of trauma they had to deal with daily. For example, P1 commented on the conflicting emotions she had experienced as a result of protecting herself from emotional fatigue:

You harden yourself towards traumatic events and/or patients ... It's difficult because you want to feel empathy towards your patients ... You can sympathise with your patients, but you can't feel empathy all the time as it will drain you emotionally.

Similarly, the emotional fatigue that P3 experienced while working in a trauma unit sometimes became overwhelming for her:

You do get more tired and emotionally drained as compared to working in other wards because it is a lot of responsibility and pressure that you have to deal with. Sometimes I realise that something is almost suffocating me and that it is too much for me to handle ... I also sometimes feel like I can't carry something with me any longer but when I talk to someone about it then it is out in the open and I can move on ... I get tired and irritated so quickly and I have told myself to just back off from a situation if I'm not sure how to deal with it in the moment.

P5 spoke about the negative effect that emotional fatigue had upon her occupation. She mentioned that the emotional fatigue she had experienced developed into aggression and irritation, which could lead to compromised patient care:

I become aggressive towards my colleagues and family, which means that I still don't know how to deal with my emotions ... The patient is first priority. If you are not well yourself, then the patient will suffer as a result ... I become very aggressive and irritated when I'm stressed, especially with people who talk about nonsense or things that aren't so important to me ...

The environments in which nurses spend most of their time may place them in a position to experience emotional depletion as most of the situations they face are

emotionally demanding (Al-Shaqsi et al., 2015; Dolan et al., 2011; Lyneham & Byrne, 2011; Richardson et al., 2013). The participants experienced emotions, such as aggression and irritation due to the fatigue caused by the amount of compassion that they constantly displayed towards their patients. Banakhar (2017) mentioned that feelings of depression and irritability may increase as a result of physical and emotional fatigue. In addition to irritation and depression, it has been found that fatigue may also lead to feelings of sadness and a reduced ability to cope effectively with the emotional demands of their workplace (Caruso, 2014) and personal life (Lambert & Lambert, 2008).

In this study, the participants also acknowledged that they had experienced various distressing emotions within their occupation, which was often the result of emotional fatigue and/or the amount of secondary trauma experienced.

Distressing emotions. The participants often mentioned that they were unsure of how to deal with certain situations in which they had been placed, resulting in distress. For example, P1 spoke about a situation that had brought about conflicting emotions in that she did not know how to deal effectively with the situation. These conflicting emotions led to the dismissal of the situation without dealing with it on an emotional level:

... it was very difficult to deal with that because I don't know what to do. You can't really go and hit the person back or, or —. And they don't understand that what they're doing is wrong, you know. It's just this, this feeling they get I guess, that they —. Ja. That was quite traumatic to me. I did not really know how to go about it ... You know, it was so shocking to me I really, I really just brushed it off. I was, you know, I was almost in tears and I thought: no, come on. This is not that bad. And I just left it. You know, I just went on with my day, which isn't — I mean, you need to deal with it, but I just brushed it off.

Likewise, P2 also spoke about her first experience with a young girl who had aborted her own child and how her personal emotions interfered with her professional interaction with the patient:

My very first encounter made me cry; it was very upsetting to me ... This was probably the last time I cried about a patient ... The young girl that had an

abortion had a big impact on me; it is not something one can forget easily. I said, "It was a boy. What did you do? You can't just carry on like that..." Afterwards, I realised, listen here, my behaviour is not always professional.

P4 discussed how overwhelming the experience of a child's death had been to her on a sensory level. According to her, it was something that she would never forget:

There is a lot in your environment that you take in daily when working in trauma. You see, hear and smell things all day in trauma. Your senses work overtime in the trauma unit ... The experience of the child passing away will stick with me forever ... It is an incredibly sad situation to see and to hear.

As mentioned by the participants, they had either reacted in a manner that may have been emotionally harmful to the patients or were unsure of which emotions to display. Nursing staff are often required to hide certain emotions as displaying them may come across as inappropriate (Gray, 2009). They follow a hidden rule book on which emotions are displayable and which are not (Diefendorff et al., 2011), which may amplify the amount of stress they experience in traumatic situations. Furthemore, nurses are often required to display compassionate care in very difficult interpersonal conditions (Chou et al., 2012).

Distressing emotions are not only problematic in terms of interpersonal relationships; they also increase the risk of developing CF.

CF. Participants spoke about CF in their own lives and how it may occur in their occupation. For example, P1 stated that a prolonged period of time spent with a specific group of patients often led to CF as she became less compassionate and patient towards them:

Because they (patients) do tend be a little more difficult, or difficult to work with ... and, and because we are very ... We have a lot of experience with dealing with them ... We tend to get less compassionate and less patience comes out for these people.

P3 mentioned that she had experienced CF which, in turn, had caused a sense of guilt:

I do get tired of caring and being sympathetic towards patients. Sometimes I feel like I don't have time to sit and listen to a patient; I just want them to get to the point and then I often feel guilty because I realise that I'm getting

emotionally blunted towards my patients. I end up feeling like a bad nurse when my emotions become blunted.

Similarly, P4 stated that CF develops due to the significant trauma one hears about and experiences daily. As a result, working with patients whose problems seem less significant may cause one to react in an unsympathetic manner:

Sometimes I become short-tempered because some patients sit and talk about their problems but you have just recently seen someone that has been through a lot of trauma and then this current patient's problem doesn't seem so serious anymore.

Lastly, P5 acknowledged that CF develops due to the need to protect herself against emotional distress.

The trauma takes away your humanity. Trauma takes away your empathy for people because you try to protect yourself against the trauma ... On the other hand, over-involvement in patient care can be the result.

A nurse's main goal is to care for patients. However, due to the daily exposure to caring for ill patients, they are at risk of developing CF (Ledoux, 2015; Lombardo & Eyre, 2011). Often nurses place others' needs above their own. However, over time, this can have an adverse impact on their ability to care compassionately (Chung, 2015). It has also been found that over-involvement in patient care my increase the risk for developing CF (Anewalt, 2009; Chung, 2015).

The impact of fatigue, whether physical or emotional, on nurses and their families is vast. Two contributing factors towards fatigue are secondary trauma and death in the workplace. Therefore, the impact of secondary trauma on nurses will be discussed in the following paragraphs. Thereafter, the emotional impact of death will be examined.

Secondary trauma. As a nurse, trauma is a reccurring event that often leaves deep emotional scars. P2 spoke about the difficulty in dealing with secondary trauma as a young nurse, but stated that as soon as it started becoming easier to experience or work through the secondary trauma, she realised that it was time for her to enter a new area of specialisation:

To me it was always difficult to deal with traumatic situations. Later on, it started getting easier to deal with traumatic situations. When it started getting easier, I changed my area of specialisation. Everyone experiences trauma and the emotional results differently. It's difficult to work through experiencing trauma on a daily basis.

Furthermore, P2 also mentioned that her emotions had fluctuated according to the type of trauma she experienced:

It is normally the bad/traumatic situations that you take home with you. The impact on my emotions varies according to the situation. For example, rape, assault and those types of things make me angry.

P3 highlighted the feelings of guilt connected to experiencing secondary trauma:

Most of the situations we experience are a form of secondary trauma. You constantly experience traumatic situations and deaths. In the first few traumatic situations regarding death, I often thought it was something I did wrong as a nurse. I would ask myself whether I neglected the patient.

The participants agreed that working through any form of trauma and/or secondary trauma is often difficult and that every person responds to it differently. Psychological and physiological responses connected to the experience of trauma should not be seen as abnormal. These responses to secondary trauma, as mentioned in the above excerpts, often decrease over time. However, trauma or secondary trauma that is repetitive over a period of time may lead to a psychological disorder, especially if the individual cannot successfully work through the trauma (Mealer et al., 2007). Moreover, it has been found that the death of a patient may end up causing feelings of failure and lead to a decrease in self-esteem (Walsh, 2009).

Another contributing factor to fatigue that emerged within the study was the number of deaths faced by the nurses on a daily basis.

Death. The participants provided various reasons as to why death had had such a significant impact on them and why it caused fatigue. P1 mentioned that one specific death in trauma had had a significant impact on her career. This experience of death was so emotionally overwhelming for her that she avoided the pain of having to deal with it:

The patient that passed away after the car accident. Ok, well, I must be honest, when I say that I –. This was the one thing that gave me a completely negative view of, of trauma ... And, and mostly because I didn't really –. I wasn't sure how to deal with it. And I didn't really get over it, or you know, I didn't –. I never thought of the situation and tried to make sense of it and all that... Because we, you are so busy that you don't, you don't have time to deal with a situation, a traumatising or an emotional loss ... because you have all these other things you have to worry about ... Now this patient has passed away and you can't think about this patient anymore because you have other lives to save, you know.

P2 stated that she had to start dealing with death at a young age which had forced her to become emotionally mature:

When you are a student nurse, you just have to walk in and start dealing with death without any preparation. When you are young, you do experience death but you have most likely never stood next to someone's bed and watched the life leave their body. As nurses, we always speak about our first death because it changes one's life. You are forced to become emotionally mature in order to cope with your surroundings.

P5 spoke about the difficulty of conveying the news of death to a patient's family. The emotional distress that she experienced as a result of having to convey bad news within the trauma unit caused her to enter a new field of nursing:

The patient's death was very difficult for me; having to carry over the news and to experience it with them ... I did not handle this situation well, especially because I so often had to carry over negative news ... Due to carrying over bad news so often, I decided to exit the area of specialisation for a while so that I wouldn't have to deal with it anymore.

From the above excerpts it is obvious that the participants had been through various experiences of death and that these had a negative impact on them emotionally. Chung (2015) stated that nurses' involvement in end-of-life situations can cause severe emotional exhaustion. Furthermore, the participants mentioned that they did not have time to work through the trauma of a death because they had other patients to care for. According to Gates and colleagues (2011), this leaves very little

time for recovery, which is necessary for the prevention of emotional build-up. Death and conveying bad news to patients' families are two of the most stressful events for a nurse (De Clercq et al., 2011). As human beings, we mourn the death of a loved one. Similarly, nurses experience a tremendous sense of grief and loss when a patient passes away (Aycock & Boyle, 2009). Nurses may experience an array of emotions, including helplessness, frustration and sadness (Gerow et al., 2010; Martins et al., 2014; Shorter & Stayt, 2010). In addition, they may feel obliged to continue providing the best possible care for their other patients (Gerow et al., 2010; Martins et al., 2014; Shorter & Stayt, 2010). Often, due to moving on to the next patient without taking the necessary time to mourn, this unadressed grief may accumulate and end up becoming chronic (Aycock & Boyle, 2009; Gates et al., 2011). When this happens, the individual is at risk of developing CF (Aycock & Boyle, 2009).

The second theme indicated that several coping strategies form an important part of nurses' experiences of overcoming CF and strengthening their level of resilience. Although the participants mentioned a number of coping strategies that were unique to their own coping, common ways of coping emerged among them. For example, religion served as a helpful coping strategy in overcoming CF and aided them in becoming more resilient. Therefore, this subtheme will be discussed first. The next subtheme that emerged from the study was that the participants' social support systems aided them in coping with their stressful work environments. Similarly, their relationships with colleagues at work also formed part of coping with fatigue and trauma. Lastly, the participants also mentioned that reflection had aided them in coping and contributed towards resiliency in their careers and personal lives.

Theme 2: Nurses Use Coping Strategies to Deal with CF and be more Resilient

Religion. Forming part of a religious system and making their religion a part of their occupational journey was seen as an important way of coping with fatigue and enhancing their level of resilience. P2, for example, indicated that her religion had helped her to discover her passion and God's plan for her life. In turn, this provided her with a sense of motivation to remain and thrive in her occupation:

Ok. So, firstly, I decided to study nursing because I felt like it was God's plan for my life. Just knowing that there is a bigger purpose behind my occupation motivates me. So even on the days that I don't necessarily enjoy my

occupation, I just know I have to be here and do my best ... because you can spend time with God when working through a difficult situation. You can also spend time with Godly people who can provide you with a different perspective; this helps one to see things differently ... Positivity goes hand-in-hand with religion; there is nothing negative about it.

P1 highlighted how religion had helped her to cope with feelings of guilt and had provided her with a sense of peace when dealing with difficulties:

The will of the Lord was maybe different, you know. So at least at the end of the day, you have that peace inside of yourself that says, "You did the best you could."

P6 stated that her religion had provided her with a sense of purpose and had made her more resilient:

... religion helps. Knowing that you serve a bigger purpose. Other people may not see the influence of religion on your life. But just knowing you have a belief system to fall back on, is very –. That is what makes it possible for me to bounce back after adversity.

The participants indicated that the support and tranquility that religion had provided were helpful in coping with CF and developing resilience. It has been found that religion frequently emerges as a positive coping strategy among individuals who have experienced a sense of trauma (Bryant-Davis et al., 2012). For instance, victims of secondary trauma may make use of religious coping strategies to form a more intimate relationship with God and other individuals with a similar religious viewpoint to feel more in control of their lives during stressful situations, thrive with regard to their mental and physical wellbeing, find a sense of meaning and strengthen their level of resilience (Claborn, 2009; Southwick & Charney, 2012). No local research has been found on the link between religion and coping among emergency nurses. However, internationally, it has been discovered that religion is one of the adaptive coping strategies that nurses can make use of in order to work through trauma (Ekedahl & Wengstrom, 2010; Rose & Glass, 2008; Shinbara & Olson, 2010). A study conducted in Uganda also revealed that religion provides nurses with a sense of support during difficult times (Harrowing & Mill, 2010; Nderitu, 2010).

Seeking social support also emerged as a helpful coping strategy among the participants.

A social support system. The participants in this study stated that speaking to a friend or family member served as a helpful means of coping with their stress and the secondary trauma they had experienced on a daily basis. This type of expression in the presence of a trusted source also aided them in bouncing back after traumatic experiences. For example, P1 stated that talking about her emotions had helped her to move forward. In other words, it strengthened her level of resilience. She also mentioned that it had assisted her in dispelling negative emotions:

After speaking to someone, really you get to just go on ... It works like that ... and if, you know, if you keep all these bad things bottled up inside of yourself, it's really –. You're gonna get depressed or something.

P1 also mentioned that her colleagues often were negative about their work circumstances, which may have had a negative effect on her wellbeing. Therefore, it was important to have support outside of her working environment:

... because you're surrounded by nurses or medical health people, whatever, and you just keep talking about these morbid things that kind of happen ... we just kind of build each other up to, to be negative. So if you, you get time, spend –. You get to spend time with positive people, and people who can kind of teach you how to, you know, bounce back or whatever. Or deal with things. That is good ... You need, you need people – like I don't know if you can call it social, a social environment, whatever ... that definitely plays quite a big role.

Similar to P1, P2 also said that speaking to someone had assisted her in avoiding a negative emotional state:

As nurses, we need to speak more about these experiences so that we can get rid of these negative experiences that build up over the years ... When you start talking about these negative experiences then you realise that you have not worked through the emotions as yet ... It helps one to recover when you can speak to someone who can provide you with advice and feedback about things that were traumatic to you so that it can teach you how to deal with the situation yourself.

P2 further stated that as a nurse, debriefing was important as it had assisted her in overcoming secondary trauma:

I once experienced a baby's death in trauma and they gave me the option to attend therapy for debriefing, but I didn't have the time and now I sit here three or four years later and I still remember this traumatic experience.

Furthermore, the following statement by P5 corresponded with that by P1 regarding the link between speaking about trauma and resilience:

Talking to someone helps in order to put traumatic experiences behind you. You need to relive it and talk about what you could have done differently. You must also accept that the situation is in the past now and that you can do things differently next time you face the same situation.

P3 stated that her fiancé provided her with a sense of support even though he did not necessarily understand what she had been going through:

My fiancé does help me cope with the stress ... my fiancé doesn't necessarily understand what I'm going through because he has never experienced these types of situations, but he listens and it helps a lot already.

It is evident that the participants viewed their social support systems as a helpful coping mechanism and something that aided them in being more resilient after difficulties had occurred. The literature states that a social support system can improve overall quality of life, aid individuals in dealing with a stressful environment, contribute towards resilience, and may decrease physical and psychological health problems, including anxiety and depression (Button, 2008; Davis et al., 2013; Prati & Pietrantoni, 2009; Prati & Pietrantoni, 2010; Yılmaz, 2017). It has also been estabished that expression in the presence of a trusted source can aid individuals in managing their emotional responses, adjusting their emotions according to what is applicable to the specific environment, and increasing overall life-satisfaction (Pennebaker & Evans, 2014). Additionally, research suggests that speaking about one's negative experiences can protect against emotional fatigue (Van der Colff & Rothmann, 2014). Furthermore, it can help nurses to display their true emotions in the presence of a trusted source, therefore enabling a higher level of emotional control within stressful situations (Kinman & Leggetter, 2016). The participants also mentioned that speaking to someone had helped them to get rid of negative

experiences. According to Burleson's (2009) findings, individuals who express their emotions in the presence of another individual may experience a decrease in the number of negative emotions and an increase in positive thoughts and overall wellbeing. Furthermore, the participants mentioned that they had had access to debriefing services, but that time was their limitation. Johnson (2016) recommended that debriefing take place immediately after a traumatic event has occurred as debriefing currently only takes place on request in most hospitals. In a study by Lavoie et al. (2011), it was also found that nurses working in trauma had found therapeutic sessions to be an essential part of their recovery and overall wellbeing.

The next subtheme that emerged was "collegial relationships." Even though social support may include the support of colleagues, the participants often spoke about relationships with colleagues as a separate event and recognised that these had influenced them either in a positive or negative manner. They also emphasised that support from colleagues was different from that which they had received from family and friends.

Collegial relationships. Forming positive relationships at work emerged as something that had provided the participants with a sense of support and contributed positively towards their levels of resilience. For example, P1 stated how her colleagues had influenced her mood:

... I have two different shifts that I'm working with currently and I just experience myself on the one shift to be very –. Well, I don't know, like joyful and happy. And everything that you do just goes easy because they're –. They also take care of their patients and they have respect for you. And, ja, they –. It's just easy to get along with them and –. And then on the other hand, you have people who aren't really –. They're not really into what they do, and they're not respectful towards their superiors and things ... So, it definitely makes a very, very big difference. Also, it contributes to whether your, you, you are physically and emotionally fatigued at the end of the day.

P2 started by explaining that her colleagues were like family due to the amount of time she had spent with them:

As nurses, we aren't just there for the show, and therefore a trusting relationship between yourself and your fellow colleagues are very important ...

Your colleagues end up becoming your family because you see them more than you see your own family ... Your colleagues understand you and we share a sense of humor that is often a bit dark and bitter, but it is something that helps us to cope.

P2 further stated that socialising with her colleagues served as a helpful coping strategy as they understood what she had been through:

I like talking to people who understand where I'm coming from about what I've seen and what I've experienced ... Talking to people in the same profession as me is helpful ... Because I mostly surround myself with people that I know well, we normally end up talking about things that have taken place at work, but this is something that aids me in recharging and recovering.

Similarly, P3 spoke about how collegial relationships had aided her in coping with trauma and how they had also taught her to be resilient:

Talking to people at work about things that were traumatic to me helps me to recover because they normally know how to handle work-related situations effectively. They also know how to adapt and to move on. My colleagues have taught me to be more resilient ... I would ask myself whether I neglected the patient ... One of my colleagues told me that I will go crazy if I kept asking myself this and that it isn't my fault.

The participants felt that the relationships they had formed at work aided them in coping with CF. One participant even mentioned that she had learned to be more resilient by listening to a colleague's advice. While the majority of studies on collegial relationships among nurses focuses on its helpfulness with regard to creating a more pleasant working environment and the fact that it helps nurses to cope (Duffy, 2013; Kubichka, 2016; Sias, 2008; Vessey et al., 2010), none of these refer to resilience. Therefore, this may be one of the first local studies linking collegial relationships with resilience. With regard to coping, Sias (2008) stated that collegial relationships play an important role in providing support, mentoring and exchanging important information. Furthermore, social support provided by colleagues is known to facilitate positive ways of coping (Gumani, 2012).

Reflection is the last factor that emerged as a helpful coping strategy in this study. The participants stated that the process of doing interviews for this study motivated them to reflect more often as they had recognised its value in dealing with difficulties related to their profession.

Reflection. The participants mentioned that reflection had aided them in coping with stress, overcoming secondary trauma and contributed towards their level of resilience. For example, P2 mentioned that reflection had helped her to become more resilient:

Resilience develops when you are able to reflect on the experience and realise where you acted negatively or positively ... When doing introspection, I normally realise that I cannot change where I am and I just have to stick it out ... I'm someone who likes introspection so I will sit and realise: I must get my mindset right and I have chosen this occupation so I'm here by choice.

P3 further mentioned that negative situations that had taken place at work caused her to engage in reflection. She also stated that spending time alone led to reflection, which had a positive effect on her work:

Patients' complaints about me have also made me reflect on my behaviour and then I often realise that I was rude and unreasonable, but this happens because of being emotionally blunted ... I am often short tempered and I think it would be good for me to spend some time by myself ... I need to become relaxed and just spend time by myself thinking about everything ... Spend time thinking about mistakes and future behaviour in the same situation.

P4 spoke about reflection often throughout her second interview. She started by saying that the first interview had caused her to become reflective:

The interview made me think about the emotional side of my work ... The interview also made me think of how much sympathy and empathy I show and what influence it has on me personally ... Thinking about everything made me realise that my job must be a new experience for me every day ... that I must be open to new experiences ... We are forced to just be OK and we must always be ready to give ... When I sat still and thought about everything, I realised how significant the impact is on my personal life.

Although this may be one of the first South African studies conducted among private health-care nurses linking reflection with resilience, a study in Norway found

that reflection is a valuable means of coping among nurses (Bakibinga et al., 2012; Vinje & Mittelmark, 2008). Furthermore, Wright (2010) states that self-reflection aids in maintaining the energy needed to fulfill tasks and enables one to be more conscious of your passion for your occupation. In turn, it may lead to self-fulfilment and personal growth (Wright, 2010).

The next theme focuses on the intrapersonal characteristics that nurses require in order to be successful. Four subthemes emerged within this theme. Firstly, the participants mentioned that a positive attitude contributed towards being resilient. Secondly, resilience emerged as an important factor in nursing. Thirdly, having self-compassion is important within their occupation as it aids in overcoming CF and enhancing resilience. Lastly, the amount of nursing experience also emerged as a significant factor.

Theme 3: Intrapersonal Characteristics

Positive attitude. The participants mentioned that a positive attitude is important as it strengthens their resiliency levels and aids in overcoming fatigue. For example, P1 mentioned that a positive attitude had helped her to persevere and enjoy her occupation:

I feel it got, it goes a lot about your, the attitude that you have. So every day you wake up — even though it's not fun to wake up in the mornings — you, you get your mindset right, you know. You say, "Today will be a good day." Or just keep yourself excited because this, this is what you do; this is the job you love, you know ... My attitude towards it is quite [laughing], quite good. And that helps a lot.

P2 stated that a positive attitude is significant as one's mind is the most powerful tool in overcoming fatigue:

Positivity is also very important in our occupation as nurses because one's mind is the most powerful tool you have.

P5 felt that her attitude had played a significant role in bouncing back after experiencing secondary trauma:

One's attitude counts for ninety per cent of one's resilience.

The participants agreed that having a positive attitude in their occupation was significant with regard to coping successfully. This corresponds with the research conducted by Chang and Chan (2015), which found that individuals who have a positive attitude are more motivated to work through challenges.

Another characteristic that was identified as significant in terms of overcoming secondary trauma and being successful as a nurse is resilience. The participants often referred to this psychological term throughout the study and viewed resilience as one of the core elements of their success in this occupation.

Resilience. The participants mentioned that having resilience is an important factor in overcoming the amount of secondary trauma experienced. P3 spoke about the importance of being able to adapt to one's environment as a nurse. She stated that this part of her occupation had aided her in developing resilience:

If you don't have resilience in this occupation then you will go crazy ... If you don't have resilience then you will wake up with a negative attitude every day ... When you become a nurse, it is often difficult to adapt as you suddenly have authority over you and you must learn to take responsibility for your actions ... You have to sort things out when something goes wrong but this has taught me to cope and to be more resilient.

P4 mentioned that resilience had protected her from developing psychological disorders, more specifically, depression and CF:

Resilience aids one in staying sane ... I would've been depressed a long time ago if it wasn't for resilience ... Resilience is important as you will go into depression or you will get blunted towards your patients if you didn't have it.

P5 highlighted the link between a positive attitude and one's level of resilience:

One's attitude counts for 90 per cent of one's resilience ... I don't see the hole; I see the possibilities in each situation and this also aids in coping ... By seeing the good in a situation also helps one cope ... I change my mindset in order to stay on top of things.

The participants mentioned that they would not have been able to survive in their occupation if they had not been resilient. According to previous research, it has been established that resilience plays a fundamental role in aiding health workers to cope

with the amount of stress and secondary trauma they experience (Kapoulitsas & Corcoran, 2015; Kinman & Grant, 2011; Rutter, 2007). P5 mentioned that a positive attitude contributes significantly towards one's level of resilience. The literature confirms this and states that resilient individuals are capable of foreseeing a positive, rather than a negative outcome (Kinman & Grant, 2011; Saleebey, 2006). Furthermore, Southwhick and Charney (2012) found that a positive attitude is associated with higher levels of resilience.

Self-compassion, the next characteristic that will be discussed, is closely linked to resilience (MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Mantzios, 2014; Neely et al., 2009; Neff, 2009b; Smeets et al., 2014). The participants mentioned that being kind towards oneself is something that had aided them in building resilience and overcoming fatigue.

Self-compassion. The participants also mentioned that self-compassion was important in overcoming trauma and coping sufficiently within their occupation. For example, P1 explained that self-compassion had aided her in overcoming feelings of guilt and doubt:

I have experienced situations where I, I do feel hard on myself. Like, "You should have known to do this," or "you could have done this," or "someone shouldn't have told you to do this, you know;" "you should have done it by yourself." But I feel like it is a learning experience. Every day we learn. So don't be too hard on yourself, you know.

P2 stated that she had been too hard on herself but that she realised she needed to rest:

Often we are too hard on ourselves ... Last week, I just told myself, "I really need a holiday."

P4 stated that she had realised that self-compassion aided one in recovering from trauma:

It is important to know yourself well and to have sympathy with yourself first as it aids in recovery ... Being sympathetic towards oneself is the most important thing in our occupation ... You cannot force yourself to get over things ... We all need time to work through trauma.

As mentioned in the above excerpts, compassion is given continuously but it is not always received. However, it has been found that compassionate care for others may have a connection with self-compassion (Lindsay & Creswell, 2014; Neff & Pommier, 2013; Welp & Brown, 2014) as self-compassion is simply compassion focused inwardly (Neff, 2003a). The participants mentioned that they had often realised that they were being hard on themselves. They also mentioned that having self-compassion had aided them in working more successfully through trauma. The literature suggests that self-compassion plays an important role in the prevention of psychological disorders and promotes psychological wellbeing and resilience (MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Leary Tate, Adams, Batts Allen, & Hancock, 2007; Mantzios, 2014; Neely et al., 2009; Neff, 2009b; Smeets et al., 2014). Self-compassion contributes towards the prevention of CF and enhances compassionate care towards patients (Beaumont et al., 2016; Gustin & Wagner, 2013; MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Wong & Mak, 2012).

The last subtheme for this section consists of the amount of experience that participants had gained in their years of practising as nursing professionals.

Professional experience. The participants mentioned that professional experience was something that had helped them to cope with trauma. They also stated that past professional experiences, whether these involved positive or negative outcomes, had taught them how to be more resilient and how to cope more successfully with challenges. For example, P2 mentioned that her experience in the field of nursing had assisted her in recovering successfully:

I think my past experiences aid me in developing resilience. Resilience develops when you are able to reflect on the experience and realise where you acted negatively or positively.

Likewise, P3 stated that professional experience had helped her to cope more effectively with situations:

Experience in this profession has a big impact on how to deal with situations more successfully; it teaches you how to sympathise and where to or not to display emotions.

Similarly, P5 said that personal and professional experience enabled one to learn how to deal with difficult circumstances:

Our occupation doesn't get easier; it is a problem if it gets easier for you. You can only handle situations better, but it doesn't become easier. Your coping mechanisms improve over time. With experience, you learn how to handle yourself and the families of patients.

The participants mentioned that their ability to cope with the trauma had increased with professional experience. As P5 mentioned, her coping mechanisms and social skills had improved over time. According to Mrayyan (2009), it is imperative that experienced nurses are retained as they deal with a stressful environment more successfully than those who are starting out in the occupation. In order to care for ill and traumatised patients as well as their families, nurses require a broad spectrum of knowledge and swift decision-making skills, which are acquired over time (De Beer et al., 2011). Furthermore, research conducted abroad by Shimizu and colleagues (2011) revealed that distressing emotions were more prevalent earlier in a nurse's career and subsided towards the end. Skills, self-confidence and competence are the result of experience in the field of nursing. In turn, these skills lead to empowerment and increased motivation (Gaki et al., 2013; Gulzar et al., 2010; Hertting et al., 2004; Koch et al., 2014; Sparks, 2012).

Theme four focuses on the participants' experiences with regard to caring and providing support for their patients. Two subthemes emerged within this theme. The first subtheme consists of the means by which the participants display their compassion for their patients. The second subtheme to emerge was distancing personal emotions from one's occupation as the participants felt that this had aided them in becoming more resilient.

Theme 4: Caring for and Supporting Patients

Compassion. Compassion can be displayed in various ways. Nonetheless, all of the participants stated that compassion is something that nurses must have even though it often becomes difficult to display in all circumstances. P1 stated that it became difficult to show compassion all the time. Furthermore, she explained how she had displayed compassion for her patients.

Because it is something you get used to, it becomes something you do not want to deal with. You are often not in the mood to be compassionate ...

Love, kindness and a smile or just a gentle touch does a lot with regards to showing compassion.

Similarly, P4 explained that displaying compassion can become tough:

Supporting patients on all levels gets difficult every now and then.

On the other hand, P2 stated that being compassionate towards patients was often rewarding:

Being compassionate means to do everything possible for my patients. Being compassionate is very satisfying for me. It is a good feeling to see what I can do for a patient and what the outcome is.

Compassionate care is one of a nurse's main duties (American Nurses Association, 2015). It therefore comes as no surprise that "care and support for patients" emerged as a theme in this study. Compassionate care develops by means of a relationship that is based on empathy and an understanding of what the other person is experiencing (Lown, 2016; Lown et al., 2011). Compassion includes taking care of someone's needs, providing him or her with physical and emotional support, encouragement and respect, and communicating that one cares (Lown et al., 2011). As mentioned by the participants, displaying compassion for patients on a daily basis becomes difficult. As a result, a lack of compassion has been noticed within healthcare systems and health organisations abroad (Francis, 2013; Health Information and Quality Authority, 2015). This may be due to the lack of programmes, such as therapeutic services, that can aid nurses in recovering.

In this study, distancing personal emotions from one's occupation emerged as an important factor in successful nursing. This will be discussed in more depth within the following paragraphs.

Distancing personal emotions from occupation. Throughout the interviews, the participants often spoke about how important it is to distance one's personal emotions from your work as it aids in enhancing resilience and prevents emotional fatigue. They provided various reasons for this statement. P1 stated that distancing her emotions from her occupation had strengthened her resilience:

But you learn, you have to learn to, to kind of distance yourself from, from these emotional things ... And I guess it can also link to my, my level of

resilience. Because it, it's also a way of, you know, bouncing back after experiencing a traumatic experience. Ja, just helping yourself, or just aiding yourself in, in you know, not getting too close or getting too involved.

P2 mentioned that she had learned to set aside her emotions and face them again as soon as she arrived home. This prevented her emotions from interfering with her work:

When you put on your uniform, you put aside your personal emotions and you do what you need to at work, and when you get home, you face these emotions again.

Similarly, P5 spoke about how important it was to keep personal biases separate from one's work and how unconditional positive regard was needed at all times:

You must put your emotions aside. You cannot get angry with someone even if you do not agree with what they have done. You must be able to put it aside and remove yourself from the situation if you can't.

Furthermore, P3 stated that distancing her emotions from her work was important as it protects her from emotional fatigue:

I can become very involved in people's stories but I have realised that I won't survive emotionally if I carry on doing this.

From the above excerpts it is clear that the participants felt strongly about distancing their emotions from their work. Not only was this a personal opinion regarding maintaining their own wellbeing, but nurses also follow a moral code that restricts them from displaying certain emotions towards patients. It is required of them to display appropriate emotions, such as empathy, compassion and care. They are also required to regulate negative emotions, including anger, sadness and severe distress (Filstad, 2010; Hayward & Tuckey, 2011; Pisaniello et al., 2012). P5 mentioned that if one did not agree with a patient then it was better to remove oneself from the situation. According to Morgan and Lynn (2009), this is the appropriate manner of dealing with a situation as one's main goal should be to enhance the patient's wellbeing and put aside one's own emotions if there is a chance that they will interfere with this process.

Conclusion

The above findings highlight the fact that the participants experienced CF and resilience as two important constructs in their profession. Even more so, they saw these as integral aspects of working in a trauma unit due to the highly stressful environment in which they had to function. The participants emphasised that continuously showing compassion towards their patients is pivotal in their occupation. However, as a result of the constant caring, they may become fatigued which, in turn, may manifest in various areas of their lives. When fatigue occurs and is left untreated, CF may develop. However, there are multiple coping strategies that can be used by nurses to overcome CF and enhance resilience which, in itself, aids in successfully mitigating CF. Furthermore, the participants highlighted that they had possessed certain intrapersonal characteristics that served as a buffer against developing CF and aided in increasing their resilience. Therefore, the above findings could be seen as making a valuable contribution to the field of nursing as they enhance nurses' knowledge about CF and ways in which to successfully overcome it. In addition, the findings can provide them with a deeper understanding of how to recognise their own resilience, how to enhance it and, ultimately, use it in mitigating the consequences of CF. The researcher hopes that this study will contribute positively to the field of trauma nursing in South Africa.

The limitations of the study should be kept in mind when interpreting the findings. Firstly, all of the participants in the study were female and predominantly Caucasian. Secondly, even though all of the participants had five or more years of nursing experience, the majority were younger than thirty years of age. According to the South African Nursing Council (2017) statistics, the highest percentage of registered nurses falls in the age category of 40 to 59 years of age. Therefore, this group of participants is not representative of the South African population of nursing professionals. As a result, there is a possibility that this may have affected the outcomes of the study. Even though the results of this research study make a valuable contribution to the understanding of CF and resilience among trauma nurses in the South African context, inferences based on the results should be made with caution. Furthermore, while the researcher constantly worked at remaining conscious of her biases, her subjectivity may still be present to a degree, which may impact the results of the study. Although various limitations have been mentioned, the outcomes of this

research study make a valuable contribution to increasing nurses' knowledge of CF and resilience in the field of trauma nursing in South Africa. Furthermore, the hope is that an increase in knowledge regarding these constructs may inform potential interventions for trauma nurses that are focused on psycho-education and provide a place of safety where debriefing can take place.

It is recommended that this study be replicated on a more diverse population group, including different racial groups and a broader spectrum of age groups as opinions regarding the researched constructs may vary according to race and experience within the field. This will enable a broader view of nurses' experiences of CF and resilience and will make a valuable contribution towards nurses' level of work satisfaction.

References

- Adams, R. E., Figley, C. R., & Boscarino, J. A. (2008). The compassion fatigue scale: Its use with social workers following urban disaster. *Research on Social Work Practice*, *18*(3), 238-250. doi:10.1177/1049731507310190
- Akbar, R. E., Elahi, N., Mohammadi, E., & Khoshknab, M. F. (2016). What strategies do the nurses apply to cope with job stress: A qualitative study. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 8(6), 55. doi:10.5539/gjhs.v8n6p55
- Akuroma, R., Eye, A., & Curran, T. (2016). Coping strategies used by nurses in dealing with patient death and dying (Bachelor's thesis). JAMK University of Applied Sciences. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/fc44/ce8ff100fda26f2a317ece729cd0e7e93b1a.pdf
- Al-Shaqsi, S., Gauld, R., McBride, D., Al-Kashmiri, A., & Al-Harthy, A. (2015). Self-reported preparedness of New Zealand acute care providers to mass emergencies before the Canterbury Earthquakes: A national survey. *Emergency Medicine Australasia*, 27(1), 55-61. doi:10.1111/1742-6723.12335
- American Nurses Association (ANA). (2015). *Code of ethics for nurses*. Retrieved May 11, 2018, from http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/EthicsStandards/CodeofEt hicsforNurses.
- Anderson, B. (2015). What kind of thing is resilience? *Politics*, *35*, 60-66. doi:10.1111/1467-9256.12079
- Andrews, T. (2012). What is social constructionism? *Grounded Theory Review, 11*(1), 39-46. Retrieved from http://groundedtheoryreview.com/2012/06/01/what-is-social-constructionism/
- Anewalt, P. (2009). Fired up or burned out? Understanding the importance of professional boundaries in home health care hospice. *Home Healthcare Nurse*,

- Angelo, R. P., & Chambel, M. J. (2015). The reciprocal relationship between work characteristics and employee burnout and engagement: A longitudinal study of firefighters. *Stress and Health*, *31*(2), 106-114. doi:10.1002/smi.2532
- Arquharson, B., Bell, C., Johnston, D., Jones, M., Schofield, P., Allan, J., & Johnston, M. (2013). Nursing stress and patient care: Real-time investigation of the effect of nursing tasks and demands on psychological stress, physiological stress, and job performance: Study protocol. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 10(69), 1-8. Retrieved from https://nursing-health.dundee.ac.uk/sites/nursing midwifery.dundee.ac.uk/files/page-files/Nursing%20stress%20and%20patient %20care%20real-time%20investigation%20of%20the%20effect%20of%20 nursing%20tasks%20and%20demands%20on%20psychological%20stress.pdf
- Austin, W., Goble, E., Leier, B., & Pyrne, P. (2009). Compassion fatigue: The experience of nurses. *Ethics and Social Welfare*, 3(2), 195-214. doi:10.1080/17496530902951988
- Aycock, N., & Boyle, D. (2009). Interventions to manage compassion fatigue in oncology nursing. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 13(2), 183-191. doi:10.1188/09.CJON.183-191
- Baker, S. E., & Edwards, R. (2012). *How many qualitative interviews is enough?*London, United Kingdom: National Centre for Research Methods.
- Bakibinga, P., Vinje, H. F., & Mittelmark, M. B. (2012). Self-tuning for job engagement: Ugandan nurses' self-care strategies in coping with work stress. *International Journal of Mental Health Promotion*, 14(1), 3-12. doi:10.1080/14623730.2012.682754
- Banakhar, M. (2017). The impact of 12-hour shifts on nurses' health, wellbeing, and job satisfaction: A systematic review. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, 7(11), 69. doi:10.5430/jnep.v7n11p69

- Baranda, M. (2017). *Nurse Burnout and the effects of coping and stress management* (Bachelor's thesis). Southern Adventist University, School of Nursing. Retrieved from https://knowledge.e.southern.edu/senior_research/190
- Baškarada, S. (2014). Qualitative Case Study Guidelines. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(40), 1-25. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR19/baskarada 24.pdf
- Basson, C. J., & Van der Merwe, T. (1994). Occupational stress and coping in a sample of student nurses. *Curationis*, 17(4), 35-43. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7697788
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report, 13*(4), 544-559. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR13-4/baxter.pdf
- Beaumont, E., Durkin, M., Hollins Martin, C. J., & Carson, J. (2016). Compassion for others, self-compassion, quality of life and mental well-being measures and their association with compassion fatigue and burnout in student midwives: A quantitative survey. *Midwifery*, *34*, 239-244. doi:10.1016/j.midw.2015.11.002
- Beh, L. S., & Loo, L. H. (2012). Job stress and coping mechanisms among nursing staff in public health services. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 2(7), 131. Retrieved from http://repository.um.edu.my/22716/1/AJRBSS%20Job%20stress.pdf
- Bhaga, T. (2010). The impact of working conditions on the productivity of nursing staff in the Midwife Obstetrical Unit of Pretoria West Hospital (Doctoral dissertation, University of Pretoria). Retrieved from www.upetd.up.ac.za /thesis/available/etd-08122011-160333/
- Bonanno, G. A., & Mancini, A. D. (2008). The human capacity to thrive in the face of potential trauma. *Pediatrics*, 121(2), 369-375. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-1648

- Bonanno, G. A., & Mancini, A. D. (2012). Beyond resilience and PTSD: Mapping the heterogeneity of responses to potential trauma. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 4*(1), 74-83. doi:10.1037/a0017829
- Bonanno, G. A., Galea, S., Bucciarelli, A., & Vlahov, D. (2007). What predicts psychological resilience after disaster? The role of demographics, resources, and life stress. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 75, 671-682. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.75.5.671
- Bonanno, G. A., Westphal, M., & Mancini, A. D. (2011). Resilience to loss and potential trauma. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 7, 511-535. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/9aa1/16cfeeade65dc33a3314 e34bbc61e3abfd2b.pdf
- Bonanno, G. A. (2005). Clarifying and extending the construct of adult resilience. *American Psychologist*, 60(3), 265-267. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.60.3.265b
- Bonanno, G. A. (2008). Loss, trauma, and human resilience: Have we underestimated the human capacity to thrive after extremely aversive events? *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 5*(1), 101-113. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.59.1.20
- Bowden, G. E., Smith, J. C. E., Parker, P. A., & Boxall, M. J. C. (2015). Working on the edge: Stresses and rewards of work in a front-line mental health service. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*, 22(6), 488-501. doi:10.1002/cpp.1912
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). *Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Boyle, D. (2011). Countering compassion fatigue: A requisite nursing agenda. *The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 16(1), 2. doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol16 No01Man02

- Bramley, L., & Matiti, M. (2014). How does it really feel to be in my shoes? Patients' experiences of compassion within nursing care and their perceptions of developing compassionate nurses. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 23(20), 2790-2799. doi:10.1111/jocn.12537
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*, 77-101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. London, United Kingdom: Sage publications.
- Bride, B. E., Robinson, M. M., Yegidis, B., & Figley, C. R. (2004). Development and validation of the secondary traumatic stress scale. *Research on Social Work Practice*, *14*(1), 27-35. doi:10.1177/1049731503254106
- Bryant-Davis, T., Ellis, M. U., Burke-Maynard, E., Moon, N., Counts, P. A., & Anderson, G. (2012). Religiosity, spirituality, and trauma recovery in the lives of children and adolescents. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 43(4), 306. doi:10.1037/a0029282
- Burke, R. J., & Greenglass, E. R. (2007). Hospital restructuring, work-family conflict and psychological burnout among nursing staff. *Psychology & Health*, *16*(5), 583-594. doi:10.1080/08870440108405528
- Burleson, B. R. (2009). Understanding the outcomes of supportive communication: A dual-process approach. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 26(1), 21-38. doi:10.1177/0265407509105519
- Burnell, L. (2009). Compassionate care: A concept analysis. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, 21(5), 319-324. doi:10.1177/1084822309331468
- Burnett, H. J., & Wahl, K. (2015). The compassion fatigue and resilience connection:

 A survey of resilience, compassion fatigue, burnout, and compassion satisfaction among trauma responders. *International Journal of Emergency*

- Mental Health and Human Resilience. Retrieved from http://www.omicsonline.com
- Bush, N. J. (2009). Compassion fatigue: Are you at risk? *Oncology Nursing Forum,* 36(1), 24-28. doi:10.1188/09.ONF.24-28
- Button, L. A. (2008). Effect of social support and coping strategies on the relationship between health care-related occupational stress and health. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, *13*(6), 498-524. doi:10.1177/1744987107087390
- Campbell, K. S., Lawrence, E. R., Spiehler, S., & Williams, E. S. (2009). The effect of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization on physician-patient communication: A theoretical model, implications, and directions for future research. *Biennial Review of Health Care Management: Meso Perspectives Advances in Health Care Management*, 8, 3-20. Retrieved from www.emeraldinsight.com/journals
- Caruso, C. C. (2014). Negative impacts of shiftwork and long work hours. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, *39*(1), 16-25. doi:10.1002/rnj.107
- Catarino, F., Gilbert, P., McEwan, K., & Baião, R. (2014). Compassion motivations: Distinguishing submissive compassion from genuine compassion and its association with shame, submissive behaviour, depression, anxiety and stress. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 33(5), 399-412. doi:10.1521/jscp.2014.33.5.399
- Cavanagh, S. J., & Snape, J. (1997). Educational sources of stress in midwifery students. *Nurse Education Today*, *17*(2), 128-134. doi:10.1016/S0260-6917(97)80030-5
- Chang, Y., & Chan, H. (2015). Optimism and proactive coping in relation to burnout among nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 23(3), 401-408. doi:10.1111/jonm.12148

- Chou, H. Y., Hecker, R. O. B., & Martin, A. (2012). Predicting nurses' well-being from job demands and resources: A cross-sectional study of emotional labour. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 20(4), 502-511. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2011.01305.x
- Chung, J. K. (2015). Compassion fatigue and burnout in nursing: A systematic literature review (Master's Dissertation, University of Canterbury, Faculty of Health Sciences). Retrieved from https://ir.canterbury.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10092/12479/Chung_Jai%20Final%20March%202016%20dissertation.pdf?se quence=1&isAllowed=y
- Cieslak, R., Shoji, K., Douglas, A., Melville, E., Luszczynska, A., & Benight, C. C. (2013). A meta-analysis of the relationship between job burnout and secondary traumatic stress among workers with indirect exposure to trauma. *Psychological Services*, *11*(1), 75-86. doi:10.1037/a0033798
- Claborn, K. R. (2009). *Use of religious coping strategies after trauma exposure as predictors of alcohol use and symptoms of posttraumatic stress in college students* (Doctoral dissertation, Oklahoma State University). Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/openview/c8fd7bac23648241df78a629bf39532a/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Coetzee, S. K., & Klopper, H. C. (2010). Compassion fatigue within nursing practice: A concept analysis. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, *12*(2), 235-243. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2018.2010.00526.x
- Cooke, J. G. (2015). The state of African resilience: Understanding dimensions of vulnerability and adaptation. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Costa, D. T., & Martins, M. D. C. F. (2011). Stress among nursing professionals: Effects of the conflict on the group and on the physician's power. *Revista da Escola de Enfermagem da USP*, 45(5), 1191-1198. doi:10.1590/S0080-62342011000500023

- Crabtree, B. F., & Miller, W. L. (1999). Using codes and code manuals: Template organizing style of interpretation. In B. F. Crabtree & W. L. Miller (Eds.). *Doing qualitative research* (2nd ed.). (pp. 93-109). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Crouch, M., & McKenzie, H. (2006). The logic of small samples in interview-based qualitative research. *Social Science Information*, 45(4), 483-499. doi:10.1177/0539018406069584
- Cutter, S. L. (2016). Resilience to what? Resilience for whom? *The Geographical Journal*, 182, 110-113. doi:10.1111/geoj.12174
- Davies, L. (2009). *Vicarious traumatization: The impact of nursing upon nurses* (Master's thesis, Victoria University of Wellington). Retrieved from http://nzresearch.org.nz/records?utf8=%E2%9C%93&text=Vicarious+Trauma tization%3 A+The+impact+of+nursing+upon+nurses
- Davis, S., Lind, B. K., & Sorensen, C. (2013). A comparison of burnout among oncology nurses working in adult and pediatric inpatient and outpatient settings. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 40(4), 303-11. doi:10.1188/13.ONF.E303-E311.
- Day, J. R., & Anderson, R. A. (2011). Compassion fatigue: An application of the concept to informal caregivers of family members with dementia. *Nursing Research and Practice*, 2011, 1-10. doi:10.1155/2011/408024
- De Beer, J., Brysiewizz, P., & Bhengu, B. (2011). Intensive care nursing in South Africa. *Southern African Journal of Critical Care*, 27(1), 6-10. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Petra_Brysiewicz/publication/277786914
 _Intensive_care_nursing_in_South_Africa/links/55d80d6608ae9d65948dafd4.
 pdf
- De Clercq, F., Meganck, R., Deheegher, J., & Van Hoorde, H. (2011). Frequency of and subjective response to critical incidents in the prediction of PTSD in

- emergency personnel. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 24(1), 133-136. doi:10. 1002/jts.20609
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*. California, CA: Sage Publications.
- Diefendorff, J. M., Erickson, R. J., Grandey, A. A., & Dahling, J. J. (2011). Emotional display rules as work unit norms: A multilevel analysis of emotional labor among nurses. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 16(2), 170. doi:10.1037/a0021725
- Dolan, B., Esson, A., Grainger, P. P., Richardson, S., & Ardagh, M. (2011). Earthquake disaster response in Christchurch, New Zealand. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, *37*(5), 506-509. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2011.06.009
- Dominguez-Gomez, E., & Rutledge, D. N. (2009). Prevalence of secondary traumatic stress among emergency nurses. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, *35*(3), 199-204. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2008.05.003
- Drury, V., Craigie, M., Francis, K., Aoun, S., & Hegney, D. G. (2014). Compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, anxiety, depression and stress in registered nurses in Australia: Phase 2 results. *Journal of Nursing Management, 22*(4), 519-531. doi:10.1111/jonm.12168
- Duffy, J. R. (2013). *Quality caring in nursing and health systems: Implications for clinicians, educators, and leaders* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company.
- Dugan, T., & Coles, R. (1989). *The child in our Times*. New York, NY: Brunner Mazel Publishers.
- Dunn, D. J. (2009). The intentionality of compassion energy. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 23(4), 222-229. doi:10.1097/HNP.0b013e3181aecebb

- Ebright, P. R. (2010). The complex work of RN's: Implications for health work environments. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 15(1), 4. doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol15No01Man04
- Ekedahl, M., & Wengstom, Y. (2010). Caritas, spirituality and religiosity in nurses' coping. *European Journal of Cancer Care, 19*, 530-537. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2354.2009.01089.x
- Emergency Nurses Society of South Africa (ENSSA). (2010). *Practice guideline EN001: Definition of emergency nurse and emergency*. Retrieved May 11, 2018, from http://emssa.org.za/documents/enssa/ENSSA_Practice_Guideline_EN001_rev iewedOct2010.pdf
- Engelbrecht, M. C., Bester, C. L., Van den Berg, H., & Van Rensburg, H. C. J. (2008). A study of predictors and levels of burnout: The case of professional nurses in primary health care facilities in the Free State. *South African Journal of Economics*, 76(1), 15-27. doi:10.1111/j.1813-6982.2008.00164.x
- Everly, G. S., Welzant, V., & Jacobson, J. M. (2008). Resistance and resilience: The final frontier in traumatic stress management. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, 10(4), 261-270. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Jodi_Frey/publication/24193230_Resistance_and_resilience_The_final_frontier_in_traumatic_stress_management/links/546779950 cf20dedafcf4eb7/Resistance-and-resilience-The-final-frontier-in-traumatic-stress-management.pdf
- Fagin, C., & Diers, D. (1983). Nursing as metaphor. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 309, 116-117. doi:10.1056/NEJM198307143090220
- Farrington, A. (1995). Stress and nursing. *British Journal of Nursing*, *4*(10), 574-578. doi:10.12968/bjon.1995.4.10.574

- Figley, C. R. (1995). Compassion Fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat the traumatised. New York, NY: Brunner-Routledge.
- Figley, C. R. (2002). Treating compassion fatigue. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Filstad, C. (2010). Learning to be a competent paramedic: Emotional management in emotional work. *International Journal of Work Organisation and Emotion*, *3*(4), 368-383. doi:10.1504/IJWOE.2010.035325
- Finkelman, A., & Kenner, C. (2013). The Image of Nursing: What it is and how it needs to Change. In A. Finkelman & C. Kenner (Eds.), *Professional Nursing Concepts: Competencies for Quality Leadership* (pp. 85-108). Massachusetts, United States: Jones and Bartlett Learning.
- Finzi-Dottan, R., & Kormosh, M. B. (2016). Social workers in Israel: Compassion, fatigue and spillover in married life. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 42(5), 703-717. doi:10.1080/01488376.2016.1147515
- Flarity, K., Gentry, J. E., & Mesnikoff, N. (2013). The effectiveness of an educational program on preventing and treating compassion fatigue in emergency nurses. *Advanced Emergency Nursing Journal*, 35(3), 247-258. doi:10.1097/TME.0b013e31829b726f
- Florczak, K. L. (2013). In the zeal to synthesize: A call for congruency. *Nursing Science Quarterly*, 26(3), 220-225. doi:10.1177/0894318413489157
- Francis, R. (2013). Report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust public inquiry: Executive summary. London, United Kingdom: The Stationery Office.
- Fresco, D. M., Williams, N. L., & Nugent, N. R. (2006). Flexibility and negative affect: Examining the associations of explanatory flexibility and coping

- flexibility to each other and to depression and anxiety. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 30(2), 201-210. doi:10.1007/s10608-006-9019-8
- Gaki, E., Kontodimopoulos, N., & Niakas, D. (2013). Investigating demographic, work-related and job satisfaction variables as predictors of motivation in Greek nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management, 21*, 483-490. doi:10.1111/j.13 65-2834.2012.01413.x
- Gandi, J. C., Wai, P. S., Karick, H., & Dagona, Z. K. (2011). The role of stress and level of burnout in job performance among nurses. *Mental health in family medicine*, 8(3), 181-193. Retreived from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Joshua_Gandi/publication/230784741_The_role_of_stress_and_level_of_burnout_in_job_performance_among_nurses/links/54d230460cf28959aa7c3482/The-role-of-stress-and-level-of-burnout-in-job-performance-among-nurses.pdf
- Gates, D., Gillespie, G., & Succop, P. (2011). Violence against nurses and its impact on stress and productivity. *Nursing Economics*, *29*(2), 59-67. Retrieved from http://www.nursingeconomics.net/ce/2013/article29059066.pdf
- Gauthier, T., Meyer, R. M., Grefe, D., & Gold, J. I. (2015). An on-the-job mindfulness-based intervention for pediatric ICU nurses: A pilot. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 30(2), 402-409. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2014.10.005
- Geraghty, S., Lauva, M., & Oliver, K. (2016). Reconstructing compassion: Should it be taught as part of the curriculum? *British Journal of Nursing*, *25*(15), 836-839. doi:10.12968/bjon.2016.25.15.836
- Gerow, L., Conejo, P., Alonzo, A., Davis, N., Rodgers, S., & Domian, E. W. (2010). Creating a curtain of protection: Nurses' experiences of grief following patient death. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 42(2), 122-129. doi:10.1111/j.1547-5069.2010.01343.x

- Gito, M., Ihara, H., & Ogata, H. (2013). The relationship of resilience, hardiness, depression and burnout among Japanese psychiatric hospital nurses. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, *3*(11), 13-17. doi:10.5430/jnep.v3n11p12
- Gjengedal, E., Ekra, E. M., Hol, H., Kjelsvik, M., Lykkeslet, E., Michaelsen, R., & Wogn-Henriksen, K. (2013). Vulnerability in health care reflections on encounters in everyday practice. *Nursing Philosophy*, *14*(2), 127-138. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=Gjengedal% 20E%5BAuthor%5D&cauthor=true&cauthor_uid=23480039
- Glantz, M., & Johnson, J. (1999). *Resiliency and development*. New York, NY: Kluwer Academic.
- Glass, N. (2009). An investigation of nurses' and midwives' academic/clinical workplaces: A healing model to improve and sustain hope, optimism, and resilience in professional practice. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, *23*(3), 158-170. doi:10.1097/HNP.0b013e3181a056c4
- Gray, B. (2009). The emotional labour of nursing defining and managing emotions in nursing work. *Nurse Education Today*, 29(2), 168-175. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2008.08.003
- Grove, K. (2013). On resilience politics: From transformation to subversion. *Resilience*, *1*(2), 146-153. doi:10.1080/21693293.2013.804661
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59-82. doi:10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Guidroz, A. M., Wang, M., & Perez, L. M. (2012). Developing a model of source-specific interpersonal conflict in health care. *Stress and Health*, 28(1), 69-79. doi:10.1002/smi.1405

- Gulzar, S. A., Shamim, M. S., & Khuwaja, A. K. (2010). Promoting motivation towards community health care: A qualitative study from nurses in Pakistan. *Journal of Pakistan Medical Association*, 60(6), 501-503. Retrieved from http://ecommons.aku.edu/pakistan_fhs_son/2
- Gumani, M. A. (2012). The role of spirituality in the cessation of suicide ideation among the church-going youth in a rural community in the Limpopo Province, South Africa. *Proceedings in ARSA-Advanced Research in Scientific Areas*, (1), 822-828. Retrieved from http://www.arsa-conf.com/archive/?vid= 1&aid=3&kid=60101-335&q=f1
- Günüşen, N. P., & Üstün, B. (2009). Turkish nurses' perspectives on a programme to reduce burnout. *International Nursing Review*, *56*(2), 237-242. doi:10.1111/j.1466-7657.2008.00682.x
- Günüşen, N. P., & Üstün, B. (2010). An RCT of coping and support groups to reduce burnout among nurses. *International Nursing Review*, *57*(4), 485-492. doi:10.1111/j.1466-7657.2010.00808.x
- Gustin, L., & Wagner, L. (2013). The butterfly effect of caring clinical nursing teachers' understanding of self-compassion as a source to compassionate care. Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences, 27(1), 175-183. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6712.2012.01033.x
- Harris, C., & Quinn Griffin, M. T. (2015). Nursing on empty: Compassion fatigue, signs, symptoms, and system interventions. *Journal of Christian Nursing*, 32(2), 80–87. doi:10.1097/CNJ.0000000000000155
- Harrowing, J. N., & Mill, J. (2010). Moral distress among Ugandan nurses providing HIV care: A critical ethnography. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 47(6), 723-731. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2009.11.010
- Hart, P. L., Brannan, J. D., & De Chesnay, M. (2014). Resilience in nurses: An integrative review. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22(6), 720-734.

- Hartley, A. (2005, April 15). Overworked nurses feel the brunt. *Cape Times*. Retrieved from https://www.iol.co.za/news/south-africa/overworked-nurses-feel-the-brunt-238793
- Hayes, L. J., O'Brien-Pallas, L., Duffield, C., Shamian, J., Buchan, J., Hughes, F., Laschinger, H.K., & North, N. (2012). Nurse turnover: A literature review-an update. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 49(7), 887-905. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.10.001.
- Hayward, R. M. & Tuckey, M. R. (2011). Emotions in uniform: How nurses regulate emotion at work via emotional boundaries. *Human Relations*, *64*(11), 1501-1523. doi:10.1177/0018726711419539
- Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA). (2015). Report of the investigation into the safety, quality and standards of services provided by the Health Service Executive to patients in the Midland Regional Hospital, Portlaoise.

 Retrieved from www.hiqa.ie/publications/report-investigation-safety-quality-and-standar ds -services-provided-healthservice-exec
- Healy, S. & Tyrrell, M. (2011). Stress in emergency departments: Experiences of nurses and doctors. *Emergency Nurse*, 19(4), 31-37. doi:10.7748/en 2011.07.19.4.31.c8611
- Herrman, H., Stewart, D. E., Diaz-Granados, N., Berger, E. L., Jackson, B., & Yuen, T. (2011). What is resilience? *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry / La Revue canadienne de psychiatrie*, *56*(5), 258-265. doi:10.1177/070674371105600504
- Hertting, A., Nilsson, K., Theorell, T., & Sätterlund Larsson, U. (2004). Downsizing and reorganization: Demands, challenges and ambiguity for registered nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 45(2), 145-154. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02876.x

- Hillhouse, J. J., & Adler, C. M. (1997). Investigating stress effect patterns in hospital staff nurses: Results of a cluster analysis. *Social Science & Medicine*, 45(12), 1781-1788. doi:10.1016/S02779536(97)00109-3
- Hinderer, K. A., Von Rueden, K. T., Friedmann, E., McQuillan, K. A., Gilmore, R., Kramer, B., & Murray, M. (2014). Burnout, compassion fatigue, compassion satisfaction, and secondary traumatic stress in trauma nurses. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*, *21*(4), 160-169. doi:10.1097/JTN.0000000000000055
- Hooper, C., Craig, J., Janvrin, D. R., Wetsel, M. A., & Reimels, E. (2010). Compassion satisfaction, burnout, and compassion fatigue among emergency nurses compared with nurses in other selected inpatient specialties. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, *36*(5), 420-427. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2009.11.027
- Howitt, D. (2010). *Introduction to qualitative methods in psychology*. Essex, United Kingdom: Pearson Education Limited.
- Howitt, D., & Cramer, D. (2011). *Introduction to research methods in psychology*. London, United Kingdom: Prentice Hall.
- Jackson, D., Firtko, A., & Edenborough, M. (2007). Personal resilience as a strategy for surviving and thriving in the face of workplace adversity: A literature review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 60, 1-9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04412.x
- Jennings, B. M. (2008). Work stress and burnout among nurses: Role of the work environment and working conditions. In R. G. Hughes (Ed.), *Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses*. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
- Johnson, A. (2016). *Debriefing in the emergency department* (Master's thesis, University of San Francisco, School of nursing). Retrieved from https://repository.usfca.edu/capstone/424

- Joinson, C. (1992). Coping with compassion fatigue. *Nursing*, *22*(4), 118-121. Retrieved from http://europepmc.org/abstract/med/1570090
- Joseph, J. (1994). The resilient child. New York, NY: Insight Books.
- Kapoulitsas, M., & Corcoran, T. (2015). Compassion fatigue and resilience: A qualitative analysis of social work practice. *Qualitative Social Work*, 14(1), 86-101. doi:0.1177/1473325014528526
- Kath, L. M., Stichler, J. F., Ehrhart, M. G., & Schultze, T. A. (2013). Predictors and outcomes of nurse leader job stress experienced by AWHONN members. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing, 42*(1), 12-25. doi:10.1111/j.1552-6909.2012.01430.x
- Khamisa, N., Oldenburg, B., Peltzer, K., & Ilic, D. (2015). Work related stress, burnout, job satisfaction and general health of nurses. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *12*(1), 652-666. doi:10.3390/ijerph120100652
- Kilfedder, C. J., Power, K. G., & Wells, T. J. (2001). Burnout in psychiatric nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 34(3), 383-396. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648. 2001.01769.x
- Kim-Cohen J., & Turkewitz R. (2012). Resilience and measured gene-environment interactions. *Development and Psychopathology*, 24, 1297-1306. doi:10.1017/S0954579412000715
- Kinman, G., & Grant, L. (2011). Exploring stress resilience in trainee social workers: The role of emotional and social competencies. *British Journal of Social Work*, 41(2), 261-275. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcq088
- Kinman, G., & Leggetter, S. (2016). Emotional labour and wellbeing: What protects nurses? *Healthcare*, *4*(4), 89. doi:10.3390/healthcare4040089

- Klimecki, O. M., & Singer, T. (2015). Compassion. In Toga, A. W. (Ed.), *Brain mapping: An encyclopedic reference* (pp. 195-199). California, CA: Academic Press.
- Koch, S. H., Proynova, R., Paech, B., & Wetter, T. (2014). The perfectly motivated nurse and the others: Work place and personal characteristics impact preference of nursing tasks. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22(8), 1054-1064. doi:10.1111/jonm.12083
- Koen, M. P., Van Eeden, C., & Wissing, M. P. (2011). The prevalence of resilience in a group of professional nurses. *Health SA Gesondheid*, *16*(1), 1-11. Retrieved from http://www.scielo.org.za/pdf/hsa/v16n1/19.pdf
- Krefting, L. (1991). Rigor in qualitative research: The assessment of trustworthiness. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 45(3), 214-222. doi:10.5014/ajot.45.3.214
- Kubichka, M. M. (2016). The influence of perceived same-status nurse-to-nurse coworker exchange relationships, quality of care provided, overall nurse job satisfaction, and organizational commitment on intent to stay and job search behaviour of nurses in the acute care nurse work environment (Doctoral dissertation). The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee. Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/openview/4c64db345aeffcf9ebb18b954bc49449/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Kvale, S. (2008). *Doing interviews*. London, United Kingdom: Sage Publications.
- Lahana, E., Papadopoulou, K., Roumeliotou, O., Tsounis, A., Sarafis, P., & Niakas, D. (2017). Burnout among nurses working in social welfare centers for the disabled. *BMC Nursing*, *16*(1), 15. doi:10.1186/s12912-017-0209-3
- Lambert, V. A., & Lambert, C. E. (2008). Nurses' workplace stressors and coping strategies. *Indian Journal of Palliative Care*, *14*(1), 38. doi:10.4103/0973-1075.41934

- Lambert, V. A., Lambert, C. E., Itano, J., Inouye, J., Kim, S., Kuniviktikul, W., & Ito, M. (2004). Cross-cultural comparison of workplace stressors, ways of coping and demographic characteristics as predictors of physical and mental health among hospital nurses in Japan, Thailand, South Korea and the USA (Hawaii). *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 41(6), 671-684. doi:10.1016/j. ijnurstu.2004.02.003
- Lather, P. (1992). Critical frames in educational research: Feminist and post-structural perspectives. *Theory into Practice*, *31*(2), 87-99. doi:10.1080/004058492095 43529
- Lavoie, S., Talbot, L. R., & Mathieu, L. (2011). Post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms among emergency nurses: Their perspective and a 'tailor-made' solution. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 67(7), 1514-1522. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05584.x
- Lazarus, R. S. (1993). Coping Theory and Research: Past, Present, and Future. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *55*, 234-247. Retrieved from http://www.emotionalcompetency.com/papers/coping%20research.pdf
- Lazarus, R., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal and coping*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Lazarus, B. N. (2005). *Coping with aging*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Leary, M. R., Tate, E. B., Adams, C. E., Batts Allen, A., & Hancock, J. (2007). Self-compassion and reactions to unpleasant self-relevant events: The implications of treating oneself kindly. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(5), 887-904. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.92.5.887
- Ledoux, K. (2015). Understanding compassion fatigue. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 71(9), 2041-2050. doi:10.1111/jan.12686

- Leoschut, L., & Burton, P. (2009). *Building resilience to crime and violence in young South Africans*. [Research Bulletin]. Centre for Justice and Crime Prevention.
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, 16(4), 473-475. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941
- Lim, J., Bogossian, F., & Ahern, K. (2010). Stress and coping in Australian nurses: A systematic review. *International Nursing Review*, *57*(1), 22-31. doi:10.1111/j. 1466-7657.2009.00765.x
- Lim, J., Hepworth, J., & Bogossian, F. (2011). A qualitative analysis of stress, uplifts and coping in the personal and professional lives of Singaporean nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 67(5), 1022-1033. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05572.x
- Lindsay, E. K., & Creswell, J. D. (2014). Helping the self help others: Self-affirmation increases self-compassion and pro-social behaviours. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 421. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00421
- Lombardo, B., & Eyre, C. (2011). Compassion fatigue: A nurse's primer. *The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 16(1), 3. doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol16No01Man03
- Lown, B. A. (2016). A social neuroscience-informed model for teaching and practising compassion in health care. *Medical Education*, 50(3), 332-342. doi:10.1111/medu.12926
- Lown, B. A., Rosen, J., & Marttila, J. (2011). An agenda for improving compassionate care: A survey shows about half of patients say such care is missing. *Health Affairs*, 30(9), 1772-1778. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0539
- Lyneham, J., & Byrne, H. (2011). Nurses' experience of what helped and hindered during the Christchurch earthquake. *Kai Tiaki Nursing Research*, *2*(1), 17-20. Retrieved from https://search.informit.com.au/documentSummary;dn=776941

558102380;res=IELNZC

- MacBeth, A., & Gumley, A. (2012). Exploring compassion: A meta-analysis of the association between self-compassion and psychopathology. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *32*(6), 545-552. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2012.06.003
- Magyar, J., & Theophilos, T. (2010). Review article: Debriefing critical incidents in the emergency department. *Emergency Medicine Australasia*, 22(6), 499-506. doi:10.1111/j.1742-6723.2010.01345.x
- Maiden, J., Georges, J. M., & Connelly, C. D. (2011). Moral distress, compassion fatigue, and perceptions about medication errors in certified critical care nurses. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 30(6), 339-345. doi:10.1097/DCC.0b013e31822fab2a
- Maier, S. (2011). The emotional challenges faced by Sexual Assault Nurse Examiners: "ER nursing is stressful on a good day without rape victims". *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 7, 161-172. doi:10.1111/j.1939-3938.2011. 01118.x
- Makola, L., Mashegoane, S., & Debusho, L. K. (2015). Work-family and family-work conflicts amongst African nurses caring for patients with AIDS. *Curationis*, 38(1), 1-8. doi:10.4102/curationis.v38i1.1436
- Mantzios, M. (2014). Exploring the relationship between worry and impulsivity in military recruits: The role of mindfulness and self-compassion as potential mediators. *Stress and Health*, *30*(5), 397-404. doi:10.1002/smi.2617
- Maree, K. (2007). First steps in research. Pretoria, South Africa: Van Schaik.
- Maree, K., & Van der Westhuizen, C. (2010). Planning a research proposal. In J. W. Creswell et al. (Eds.), *First steps in research* (Rev. ed., pp. 24-44). Pretoria, South Africa: Van Schaik.

- Marquis, B. L., & Huston, C. J. (2012). *Leadership roles and management functions in nursing: Theory and application*. (7th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Martins, M. C., Chaves, C., & Campos, S. (2014). Coping strategies of nurses in terminal ill. *Procedia-Social and Behavioural Sciences*, 113, 171-180. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.024
- Maslach, C. (1982). *Burnout: The cost of caring*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Masten, A. S. (1994). Resilience in individual development: Successful adaptation despite risk and adversity. In M. C. Wang & E. W. Gordon (Eds.), *Educational resilience in inner-city America: Challenges and prospects* (pp. 3-25). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Masten, A. S. (2004). Regulatory processes, risk, and resilience in adolescent development. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1021(1), 310-319. doi:10.1196/annals.1308.036
- Matheson, C., Robertson, H. D., Elliott, A. M., Iversen, L., & Murchie, P. (2016). Resilience of primary healthcare professionals working in challenging environments: A focus group study. *The British Journal of General Practice*, 66(648), 507-515. doi:10.3399/bjgp16X685285
- McCourt, R., Power, J. J., & Glackin, M. (2013). General nurses' experiences of end-of-life care in the acute hospital setting: A literature review. *International Journal of Palliative Nursing*, 19(10), 510-516. doi:10.12968/ijpn.2013. 19.10.510
- McGeary, D. (2011). Making sense of resilience. *Military Medicine*, *176*(6), 603-604. doi:10.7205/MILMED-D-10-00480
- McGibbon, E., Peter, E., & Gallop, R. (2010). An institutional ethnography of nurses'

- stress. Qualitative Health Research, 20(10), 1353-1378. doi:10.1177/10497 32310375435
- Mealer, M. L., Shelton, A., Berg, B., Rothbaum, B., & Moss, M. (2007). Increased prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms in critical care nurses. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 175(7), 693-697. doi:10.1164/rccm.200606-735OC
- Melvin, C. S. (2012). Professional compassion fatigue: What is the true cost of nurses caring for the dying? *International Journal of Palliative Nursing*, 18(12), 606-611. doi:10.12968/ijpn.2012.18.12.606
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. California, CA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Mohamed, F. R. (2016). Relationship among nurses' role overload, burnout and managerial coping strategies at intensive care units. *International Journal of Nursing Education*, 8(2), 39-45. doi:10.5958/0974-9357.2016.00044.1
- Morgan, J. C., & Lynn, M. R. (2009). Satisfaction in nursing in the context of shortage. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 17(3), 401-410. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2007.00842.x
- Mosendane, T., Kew, M. C., Osih, R., & Mahomed, A. (2012). Nurses at risk for occupationally acquired blood-borne virus infection at a South African academic hospital. *SAMJ: South African Medical Journal, 102*(3), 153-156. Retrieved from http://www.scielo.org.za/scielo.php?pid=S0256-95742012000 300026&script=sci_arttext&tlng=pt
- Motta, R. W. (2008). Secondary trauma. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, 10(4), 291-298. Retrieved from http://psycnet.apa.org/record/2009-02319-006
- Moustaka, E., & Constantinidis, T. C. (2010). Sources and effects of work-related

- stress in nursing. *Health Science Journal*, *4*(4), 210. Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/openview/3feef7309d35d569448a95d6aeb3cf47/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=237822
- Mrayyan, M. T. (2009). Job stressors and social support behaviours: Comparing intensive care units to wards in Jordan. *Contemporary Nurse*, *31*(2), 163-175. doi:10.5172/conu.673.31.2.163
- Naik, N. (2016). The experiences of stress and coping strategies of nurse managers in a private healthcare setting (Doctoral dissertation, University of Witwatersrand). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10539/20080
- Najjar, N., Davis, L. W., Beck-Coon, K., & Doebbeling, C. C. (2009). Compassion fatigue: A review of the research to date and relevance to cancer-care providers. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 14, 267-277. doi:10.1177/ 1359105308100211
- Nderitu, E. W. (2010). *The experience of Ugandan nurses in the practice of universal precautions* (Masters Dissertation). Faculty of Nursing, University of Alberta, Edmonton. doi:10.7939/R3Q34X10.7939/R3Q34X
- Neely, M. E., Schallert, D. L., Mohammed, S. S., Roberts, R. M., & Chen, Y. J. (2009). Self-kindness when facing stress: The role of self-compassion, goal regulation, and support in college students' well-being. *Motivation and Emotion*, 33(1), 88-97. doi:10.1007/s11031-008-9119-8
- Neff, K. (2003). Self-compassion: An alternative conceptualization of a healthy attitude toward oneself. *Self and Identity*, 2(2), 85-101. doi:10.1080/15298860309032
- Neff, K. D. (2009). The role of self-compassion in development: A healthier way to relate to oneself. *Human Development*, 52(4), 211-214. doi:10.1159/000215071

- Neff, K. D., & Pommier, E. (2013). The relationship between self-compassion and other-focused concern among college undergraduates, community adults, and practicing meditators. *Self and Identity*, *12*(2), 160-176. doi:10.1080/15298868.2011.649546
- Nishishiba, M., Jones, M., & Kraner, M. (2013). Research methods and statistics for public and nonprofit administrators: A practical guide. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- O'Donovan, R., Doody, O., & Lyons, R. (2013). The effect of stress on health and its implications for nursing. *British Journal of Nursing*, 22(16), 969-973. doi:10.12968/bjon.2013.22.16.969
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2012, May). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *13*(2), 1-8. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Pauley, G., & McPherson, S. (2010). The experience and meaning of compassion and self-compassion for individuals with depression or anxiety. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 83*(2), 129-143. doi:10.1348/147608309x471000
- Pennebaker, J. W., & Evans, J. F. (2014). *Expressive writing: Words that heal*. Enumclaw, WA: Idyll Arbor Incorporated.
- Perry, B., Toffner, G., Merrick, T., & Dalton, J. (2011). An exploration of the experience of compassion fatigue in clinical oncology nurses. *Canadian Oncology Nursing Journal*, 21(2), 91-105. Retrieved from http://www.canadianoncologynursingjournal.com/index.php/conj/article/view/160
- Phyffer, M. (2015). Resilience among nurses working at the Klerksdorp/Tshepong hospital in the North West Province (Doctoral dissertation, North-West University, South Africa, Potchefstroom Campus). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10394/19869

- Pillay, R. (2009). Work satisfaction of professional nurses in South Africa: A comparative analysis of the public and private sectors. *Human Resources for Health*, 7, 1-10. doi:10.1186/1478-4491-7-15
- Pisaniello, S. L., Winefield, H. R., & Delfabbro P. H. (2012). The influence of emotional labour and emotional work on the occupational health and wellbeing of South Australian hospital nurses. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 80, 579-591. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2012.01.015
- Pope, C., & Mays, N. (2013). *Qualitative research in health care*. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Portnoy, D. (2011). Burnout and compassion fatigue: Watch out for the signs. *Health Progress*, 92(4), 46-50. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21838112
- Post, S. G. (2011). Compassionate care enhancement: Benefits and outcomes. *International Journal of Person Centered Medicine, 1*(4), 808-813. Retrieved from http://www.ijpcm.org/index.php/ijpcm/article/view/153
- Potter, P., Deshields, T., Divanbeigi, J., Berger, J., Cipriano, D., Norris, L., & Olsen, S. (2010). Compassion fatigue and burnout: Prevalence among oncology nurses. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 14(5), 56-62. doi:10.1188/10.CJON.E56-E62
- Potter, P., Pion, S., & Gentry, J. E. (2014). Compassion fatigue resiliency training: The experience of facilitators. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 46(2), 83-88. doi:10.3928/00220124-20151217-03
- Prati, G., & Pietrantoni, L. (2009). Optimism, social support, and coping strategies as factors contributing to posttraumatic growth: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 14(5), 364-388. doi:10.1080/15325020902724271
- Prati, G., & Pietrantoni, L. (2010). The relation of perceived and received social

- support to mental health among first responders: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 38(3), 403-417. doi:10.1002/jcop.20371
- Price, B. (2013). Promoting compassionate care through learning journeys. *Nursing Standard*, 27, 48, 51-57. doi:10.7748/ns2013.07.27.48.51.e7381
- Rajan, D. (2017). Negative Impacts of Long Working Hours: A Comparative Study among Nurses. *MOJ App Bio Biomech*, 1(2), 60-67. doi:10.15406/mojabb. 2017.01.00010
- Ramalisa, R. J. (2014). Exploring the resilience of nurses providing mental health care to involuntary mental health care users (Doctoral dissertation, North-West University, South Africa, Potchefstroom Campus). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10394/14152
- Rathore, H., Shukla, K., Singh, S., & Tiwari, G. (2012). Shift work-problems and its impact on female nurses in Udaipur, Rajasthan India. *Work, 41*(1), 4302-4314. doi:10.3233/WOR-2012-0725-4302
- Richardson, S., Ardagh, M., Grainger, P., & Robinson, V. (2013). A moment in time: Emergency nurses and the Canterbury earthquakes. *International Nursing Review*, 60(2), 188-195. doi:10.1111/inr.12013
- Richmond, T. S., & Aitken, L. M. (2011). A model to advance nursing science in trauma practice and injury outcomes research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 67(12), 2741-2753. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05749.x
- Roberts, J., Fenton, G., & Barnard, M. (2015). Developing effective therapeutic relationships with children, young people and their families. *Nursing Children and Young People*, 27(4), 30-35. doi:10.7748/ncyp.27.4.30.e566.
- Robinson, G. M., & Carson, D. A. (2016). Resilient communities: Transitions, pathways and resourcefulness. *The Geographical Journal*, *182*, 114-122. doi:10.1111/geoj.12144

- Robottom, I., & Hart, P. (1993). Towards a meta-research agenda in science and environmental education. *International Journal of Science Education*, 15(5), 591-605. doi:10.1080/0950069930150511
- Rose, J., & Glass, N. (2008). Enhancing emotional well-being through self-care: The experiences of community health nurses in Australia. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 22(6), 336-347. doi:10.1097/01.HNP.0000339345.26500.62
- Rutter, M. (2007). Resilience, competence and coping. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *31*, 205-209. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.02.001
- Rutter, M. (2008). Developing concepts in developmental psychopathology. In J. J. Hudziak (Ed.), *Developmental psychopathology and wellness: Genetic and environmental influences* (pp. 3-22). New York, NY: American Psychiatric Publications.
- Ryan, F., Coughlan, M., & Cronin, P. (2007). Step-by-step guide to critiquing research. *British Journal of Nursing*, *16*(12), 738-744. Retrieved from http://keiranhenderson.com
- Sabo, B. (2011). Reflecting on the concept of compassion fatigue. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 16(1). doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol16No01Man01
- Saldaña, J. (2015). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. London, United Kingdom: Sage Publications.
- Saleebey, D. (2006). *The strengths perspective in social work practice*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Sandström, L., Nilsson, C., Juuso, P., & Engström, Å. (2016). Experiences of nursing patients suffering from trauma preparing for the unexpected: A qualitative study. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing*, *36*, 58-65. doi:10.1016/j.iccn.2016.04.002

- Sargeant, J. (2012). Qualitative research part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 4(1), 1-3. doi:10.4300/JGME-D-11-00307.1
- Schantz, M. L. (2007). Compassion: A concept analysis. *Nursing Forum*, *42*(2), 48-55. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6198.2007.00067.x
- Seidman, I. (2013). *Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Sheppard, K. (2015). Compassion fatigue among registered nurses: Connecting theory and research. *Applied Nursing Research*, *28*, 57-59. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2014.10.007
- Shimizu, H. E., Couto, D. T., & Merchan-Hamann, E. (2011). Pleasure and suffering in intensive care unit nursing staff. *Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem*, 19(3), 565-572. doi:10.1590/S0104-11692011000300016
- Shinbara, C. G., & Olson, L. (2010). When Nurses Grieve: Spirituality's Role in Coping. *Journal of Christian Nursing*, 27(1), 32-37. doi:10.1097/01.CNJ. 0000365989.87518.60
- Shorter, M., & Stayt, L. C. (2010). Critical care nurses' experiences of grief in an adult intensive care unit. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 66(1), 159-167. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05191.x
- Showalter, S. E. (2010). Compassion fatigue: What is it? Why does it matter? Recognizing the symptoms, acknowledging the impact, developing the tools to prevent compassion fatigue and strengthen the professional already suffering from the effects. *American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Medicine*, 27(4), 239-242. doi:10.1177/1049909109354096
- Sias, P. M. (2008). Organizing relationships: Traditional and emerging perspectives

- on workplace relationships. Los Angeles, LA: Sage Publications.
- Smeets, E., Neff, K., Alberts, H., & Peters, M. (2014). Meeting suffering with kindness: Effects of a brief self-compassion intervention for female college students. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*. 70(9), 794-807. doi:10.1002/jclp.22076
- Sorenson, C., Bolick, B., Wright, K., & Hamilton, R. (2016). Understanding compassion fatigue in healthcare providers: A review of current literature. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 48(5), 456-465. doi:10.1111/jnu.12229
- South African Nursing Council (SANC). (2013). Geographical distribution of the population of South Africa versus nursing manpower. [Web Publication]. Retrieved from http://www.sanc.co.za/stats/stat2013/Distribution%202013xls.htm
- South Africa Nursing Council (SANC). (2016). *Annual Statistics*. [Web Publication]. Retrieved from http://www.sanc.co.za/stats_an.htm
- Southwick, S. M., & Charney, D. S. (2012). *Resilience: The science of mastering life's greatest challenges*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Sparks, A. M. (2012). Psychological empowerment and job satisfaction between baby boomer and generation X nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 20, 451-460. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2011.01282.x
- Squires, A. (2009). Methodological challenges in cross-language qualitative research:

 A research review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 46(2), 277-287.

 doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2008.08.006
- Stake, R. E. (2013). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Stamm, B. H. (2010). *The Concise ProQOL Manual* (2nd ed.). Retrieved from http://www.proqol.org/uploads/ProQOL_Concise_2ndEd_12-2010.pdf

- Stephens, T. M. (2013). Nursing student resilience: A concept clarification. *Nursing forum*, 48(2),125-133. Retrieved from http://www.academia.edu/download/41508883/Stephens NSRes.pdf
- Taylor, R., & Wang, M. (2000). *Resilience across contexts: Family, work, culture, and community*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlabaum Associates Publishers.
- Theron, L. C., & Theron, A. M. (2010). A critical review of studies of South African youth resilience, 1990-2008: Review article. *South African Journal of Science*, 106(7-8), 1-8. Retrieved from http://www.sajs.co.za
- Thomas, R. B., & Wilson, J. P. (2004). Issues and controversies in the understanding and diagnosis of compassion fatigue, vicarious traumatization, and secondary traumatic stress disorder. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, 6(2), 81-92. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15298079
- Thomsen, K. (2002). *Building resilient students*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press Incorporated.
- Toode, K., Routasalo, P., & Suominen, T. (2011). Work motivation of nurses: A literature review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 48(2), 246-257. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2010.09.013
- Townsend, S. M. & Campbell, R. (2009). Organizational correlates of secondary traumatic stress and burnout among sexual assault nurse examiners. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, *5*(2), 97-106. doi:10.1111/j.1939-3938.2009.01040.x
- Tubbert, S. (2016). Resiliency in emergency nurses. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 42(1), 47-52. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2015.05.016
- Tucker, S. J., Weymiller, A. J., Cutshall, S. M., Rhudy, L. M., & Lohse, C. M. (2012). Stress ratings and health promotion practices among RNs: A case for action. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 42(5), 282-292. doi:10.1097/NNA.

- Twinn, S. (1997). An exploratory study examining the influence of translation on the validity and reliability of qualitative data in nursing research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 26(2), 418-423. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.1997.19970 26418.x
- Tyson, P. D., & Pongruengphant, R. (2004). Five-year follow-up study of stress among nurses in public and private hospitals in Thailand. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 41(3), 247-254. doi:10.1016/S0020-7489(03) 00134-2
- Ungar, M. (2003). Qualitative contributions to resilience research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 2, 85-102. doi:10.1177/1473325003002001123
- Unger, M. (2005). *Handbook for working with children and youth*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Ungar, M. (2008). Resilience across cultures. *The British Journal of Social Work,* 38(2), 218-235. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcl343
- Ungar, M. (2012). Social ecologies and their contribution to resilience. In *The social ecology of resilience* (Rev. ed., pp. 13-31). New York, NY: Springer.
- Van der Cingel, M. (2009). Compassion and professional care: Exploring the domain. Nursing Philosophy, 10(2), 124-136. doi:10.1111/j.1466-769X.2009.00397
- Van der Colff, J. J., & Rothmann, S. (2014). Occupational stress of professional nurses in South Africa. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 24(4), 375-384. doi:10.1080/14330237.2014.980626
- Van Dernoot Lipsky, L. (2010). *Trauma stewardship: An everyday guide to caring for self while caring for others*. San Francisco, CA: Berrett-Koehler Publishers.

- Van Nes, F., Abma, T., Jonsson, H., & Deeg, D. (2010). Language differences in qualitative research: Is meaning lost in translation? *European Journal of Ageing*, 7(4), 313-316. doi:10.1007/s10433-010-0168-y
- Vessey, J., Demarco, R., & Difazio, R. (2010). Bullying, harassment, and horizontal violence in the nursing workforce: The state of the science. *Annual Review of Nursing Research*, 28, 133-57. doi:10.1891/0739-6686.28.133
- Vinje, H. F., & Mittelmark, M. B. (2008). Community nurses who thrive: The critical role of job engagement in the face of adversity. *Journal for Nurses in Professional Development*, 24(5), 195-202. doi: 10.1097/01.NND.0000320695.16511.08
- Walker, J. L. (2012). The use of saturation in qualitative research. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 22(2), 37-46. Retrieved from http://www.cccn.ca
- Walsh, M. (2009). The experience of witnessing patients' trauma and suffering for acute care nurses (Doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia).

 Retrieved from https://open.library.ubc.ca/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/24/items/1.0053977
- Walton, A. M., & Alvarez, M. (2010). Imagine: Compassion fatigue training for nurses. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 14(4), 399-400. doi:10.1188/10.CJON
- Ward-Griffin, C., St-Amant, O., & Brown, J. B. (2011). Compassion fatigue within double duty caregiving: Nurse-daughters caring for elderly parents. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 16(1), 4. doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol16No01Man04
- Welp, L. R., & Brown, C. M. (2014). Self-compassion, empathy, and helping intentions. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 9(1), 54-65. doi:10.1080/15298868.2011.649
- Wildschut, A., & Mggolozana, T. (2008). Shortage of nurses in South Africa: Relative

- or absolute? South Africa: Department of Labour. Retrieved from http://www.labour.gov.za/DOL/downloads/documents/research-documents/ nursesshortage.pdf
- Wong, C. C. Y., & Mak, W. W. S. (2012). Differentiating the role of three self-compassion components in buffering cognitive-personality vulnerability to depression among Chinese in Hong Kong. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 60(1), 162-169. doi:10.1037/a0030451
- Wright, S. G. (2010). Commentary on "Light still shines in the darkness: Decent care for all". *Journal of Holistic Nursing*, 28(4), 275-283. doi:10.1177/0898010110383107
- Wu, G., Feder, A., Cohen, H., Kim, J. J., Calderon, S., Charney, D. S., & Mathé, A.
 A. (2013). Understanding resilience. *Frontiers in Behavioural Neuroscience*,
 7, 10. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2013.00010
- Yasmin, K., & Marzuki, N. A. (2015). Organizational commitment and job burnout among psychaitric nurses in Punjab Pakistan. *Journal of Sociological Research*, 6(2), 138-149. doi:10.5296/jsr.v6i2.8693
- Yassen, J. (1995). Preventing secondary traumatic stress disorder. In C. R. Figley (Ed.), *Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat the traumatized* (pp. 150-177). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case study research: Design and methods* (4th ed.). Los Angeles, LA: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2011). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oakes, CA: Sage Publications.

- Yılmaz, E. B. (2017). Resilience as a strategy for struggling against challenges related to the nursing profession. *Chinese Nursing Research*, 4(1), 9-13. doi:10.1016/j.cnre.2017.03.004
- Yoder, E. A. (2010). Compassion fatigue in nurses. *Applied Nursing Research*, 23(4), 191-197. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2008.09.003
- Young, J. L., Derr, D. M., Cicchillo, V. J., & Bressler, S. (2011). Compassion satisfaction, burnout, and secondary traumatic stress in heart and vascular nurses. *Critical Care Nursing Quarterly*, 34(3), 227-234. doi:10.1097/CNQ. 0b013e31821c67d5
- Zander, M., Hutton, A., & King, L. (2013). Exploring resilience in paediatric oncology nursing staff. *Collegian*, 20(1), 17-25. doi:10.1016/j.colegn. 2012.02.002
- Zulfiqar, A., Khan, N. U., & Afaq, Q. (2013). Evaluating the relationship between work family conflict and job satisfaction (a survey of nursing staff in public sector hospitals of Bhakkar District). *Gomal University Journal of Research*, 29(2), 58-63. doi:10.1016/j.hsag.2016.10.001

APPENDIX A

INTERVIEW PROTOCOL

1. Compassion fatigue:

- 1. As a nurse, what does being compassionate mean to you?
- 2. Could you tell me more about a recent event where you had to show compassion?
- 3. Can you tell me more about a recent traumatic event where you experienced emotional and/or physical exhaustion due to showing compassion?
- 4. In which ways did you respond to this experience of emotional and physical exhaustion?
- 5. What have been some of the behavioural consequences you have experienced following a traumatic experience within the workplace?
- 6. What are some of the strategies that you currently make use of in coping with compassion fatigue?
- 7. What is your perception of the helpfulness of the strategies that you use in coping with compassion fatigue?

2. Resilience:

- 1. How does your current work environment demand resilience from you?
- 2. What have been some of the most challenging obstacles you have faced at work?
- 3. How did you go about dealing with these obstacles?
- 4. What do you do to refresh yourself when working in such an environment?
- 5. What behaviours do you take part in in order to unwind after a stressful week at work?
- 6. What factors in your life do you experience as contributing towards making you more resilient?
- 7. How do these factors contribute towards your resilience?
- 8. Can you tell more about how resilience has been beneficial in your occupation?

Data removed to maintain confidentiality.

Contact: openaccess@ufs.ac.za

APPENDIX C

EXAMPLE FROM THE RESEACHER'S REFLECTIVE JOURNAL

Initially, the process of sampling was quite stressful for me. Firstly, recruitment of participants was challenging. It was especially difficult to find participants who met the inclusion criteria for the study. Secondly, after I contacted the first participants, I found it difficult to schedule the interviews- considering differences in schedules. Finally, I was rather nervous, anxious, and uncertain about conducting the interviews. As a result, I discussed the possibility of conducting a pilot interview with my supervisor. She confirmed that she thought it was a good idea as it would give me the opportunity to practice my interviewing skills and eliminate some of the doubts I might have regarding the interviewing process.

It was helpful to discuss the doubts that I had about my own skills with my supervisor. I also engaged in self-reflection and I listened to my pilot interview a few times before conducting the first official interview. The first interview went well. Although there were some aspects that I would have liked to improve on with each of the interviews I felt at ease with my overall attempt. After I completed my first interview for the study, I felt a great sense of relief. Although I felt comfortable with my attempt, I was still hard on myself regarding certain aspects.

My data collection took longer than I expected as most of the nurses that I contacted had busy schedules and would often cancel our apointments at the last minute. As a result, I felt extremely demotivated and struggled to find the motivation and perseverance to contact more people. However, I eventually managed to schedule a sufficient number of interviews. I motivated myself by reasoning that the study would progress quickly once the data collection was complete. Nonetheless, to my surprise, writing chapters did not happen overnight. This was a reality check. I often spent whole days on my dissertation and found that I only wrote two or three pages. Even though this journey was tough, I still enjoyed it thoroughly and I have discovered some of my strengths and weaknesses throughout this process

APPENDIX D

LETTER OF ETHICAL CLEARANCE



Dear Miss Le Roux

Faculty of the Humanites

Ethics Clearance: Experiences of compassion fatigue and resilience among nurses in private medical facilities.

Principal Investigator: Miss Simoné Le Roux

Department: Psychology (Bloemfontein Campus)

APPLICATION APPROVED

With reference to your application for ethical clearance with the Faculty of the Humanities. I am pleased to inform you on behalf of the Research Ethics Committee of the faculty that you have been granted ethical clearance for your research.

Your ethical clearance number, to be used in all correspondence is: UFS-HSD2016/1300 This ethical clearance number is valid for research conducted for one year from issuance. Should you require more time to complete this research, please apply for an extension.

We request that any changes that may take place during the course of your research project be submitted to the ethics office to ensure we are kept up to date with your progress and any ethical implications that may arise.

Thank you for submitting this proposal for ethical clearance and we wish you every success with your research.

Yours Sincerely

Prof. Robert Peacock Chair: Research Ethics Committee Faculty of the Humanities

Office of the Dean/Kantoor van die Dekaan/Ofisa ya Dine

T: +27 (0)51 401 2240 | F: +27 (0)51 401 7363 | E: beukeshs@ufs.ac.za P.O. Box/Posbus 339 | Bloemfontein 9300 | South Africa/Suid-Afrika | www.ufs.ac.za

22-Mar-2017





APPENDIX E

TURNITIN REPORT

The dissertation has been submitted to Blackboard Turn-it-in software on Tuesday, 24 July 2018 for feedback on the level of plagiarism. A plagiarism percentage of 11% was indicated. The plagiarism report can be requested from the supervisor, Dr. Anja Botha: bothaa@ufs.ac.za